

GRA 19703

Master Thesis

Thesis Master of Science

The Rise of Social Expectations in Sports:

How the Notion of Fairness Can Affect Sports Sponsorships

INAVII.	Børdalen
Start:	15.01.2021 09.00
Finish:	01.07.2021 12.00

The Rise of Social Expectations in Sports: How the Notion of Fairness Can Affect Sports Sponsorships

Study Program:

Master of Science in Strategic Marketing Management

Examination Code and Course Name:

GRA 19703 Master Thesis

Supervisor:

Professor Eric L. Olson

Campus:

BI Oslo

GRA 19703

Acknowledgements

This thesis is submitted as a completion of a MSc in Strategic Marketing Management at BI Norwegian Business School. We are thankful for five years filled with great learning experiences, inspiration and great memories that have prepared us for future challenges.

We would especially like to thank our supervisor Professor Erik L. Olson for his invaluable contribution that made this thesis possible. Your engagement, cooperation, and ability to challenge us to think critically has been highly appreciated and helpful during this project. Furthermore, we would like to extend a thank you to everyone who contributed to this master thesis, one way or another.

Thank you!

Helene Bække Børdalen & Aleksander Sveen

Abstract

Sports sponsorship is a worldwide acknowledged concept for brands to obtain customer-based brand equity. Thus, a marketing activity with highly lucrative potential, exposing the brand to a wide audience and making it subject to associations through platforms that generate high levels of engagement and positive feelings. As equality has become an important construct in social discussions, this has also affected the world of sports. This thesis firstly aims to explore how the valence of media coverage can affect what consumers perceive as fair in relation to how sponsorship funds are allocated between male and female athletes/teams. Secondly, this thesis addresses how the same valence of media coverage and consumers' perception of fairness of presented equality principles relates to a sponsor's obtained customer-based brand equity. Results illustrate how there is a basis for further research on the subject, although this thesis was not able to provide substantial evidence that valence of media coverage has an effect on consumers perceived fairness in regard to equality constructs for allocating sponsorship funds. However, exposure to a certain valence of media coverage can affect a sponsor's obtained customer-based brand equity. In line with existing theory on sports sponsorships coherence with social expectation, this thesis provides support to the notion that consumers' perceived fairness of allocation of sponsorship funds can affect a sponsor's customer-based brand equity.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	1
Abstract	ii
1.0 Tutus heather	1
1.0 Introduction	1
2.0 Literature Review	5
2.1 Sports Sponsorship	5
2.2 The Commercialization of Sports	6
2.2.1 Image Transfer	
2.2.2 Fanship	
2.3 Gender Equality in Sports	
2.3.1 The Rise of Female Sports	12
3.0 Methodology	14
3.1 Study	14
3.1.1 Pre-test	18
3.2 Sampling and Data Collection	18
3.2.1 Data Cleansing and Final Sample	18
4.0 Analysis and Findings	19
4.1 Factor Analysis	19
4.1.1 Reliability Check	21
4.2 The Influence of Valence of Media Coverage	
4.2.1 Hypothesis Testing: Valence of Media Coverage and Fairness Perceptions	
4.3 The Effect of Consumers' Perception of Fairness	
4.3.1 Hypothesis Testing: Sponsorship Allocation based on Outcome	
4.5.2 Hypothesis Testing. Sponsorship Adocution based on Opportunity	20
5.0 Discussion and Conclusion	28
5.1 Academic and Managerial Implications	30
5.2 Limitations and Future Research	31
6.0 Reference list	33
Appendix	47
Appendix 1: Sponsorship Percentage of the 100 Highest Paid Athletes	47
Appendix 2: Questionnaire	52
Appendix 3: Confirmatory Factor Analysis	55
Appendix 4: Exploratory Factor Analysis	56

1.0 Introduction

Sports are, due to the amount of diversity of people engaged in both attendance and participation, unmatched by any other form of arts or causes (Plewa & Quester, 2011). However, a longstanding gap in media coverage, audience size, performance and pay has been detected between male and female athletes/teams. Sports has become a lucrative business, and the increased focus on the differences between male and female athletes/teams' salaries has simultaneously increased the social expectations on the business of sports. Thereby, sports are challenged on their standing on equality between male and female athletes/teams, similar to how companies face the same social expectations.

This thesis will examine how the pay gap affects the relationship between consumer and brand, when seen in the context of different metrics for allocating sponsorship funds.

As the Fourth Estate, media has a significant influence on both the system and on people (Sermaxhaj, 2020; Valkenburg et al., 2016). Research shows that less than 10% of all media coverage, both print and broadcast, is devoted to promoting female sports (Scheadler & Wagstaff, 2018). Which is arguably an important antecedent of why the sports scene, in all aspects, has been and still is, rather male dominant (Apostolou et al., 2014; Deaner et al., 2016; James & Ridinger, 2002; Lange, 2020c). Still, from the 1900s until today, there has been an evolution within sports (Messner, 1988). Especially over the last decade, where female sports have grown substantially bigger and gained more traction, both in attendance and participation (Raviprakash et al., 2020; The Nielsen Company, 2018). While 76% of sports watchers are male, both male and female audiences find male sports more exciting (Angelini, 2008; Lange, 2020c). Making media outlets somewhat obliged to comply with this preference and grant male sports a majority share of promotion, in order to secure the audience's interest. A common reasoning to emphasize why the pay gap exists and why male athletes should be rewarded with higher salaries without it being outed as discriminating.

The difference in reported excitement level could be tied to how physical performances are generally not viewed as equal between male and female (Thibault et al., 2010). Typically, male sports provide more of a spectacle, and are perceived

to be more impressive, presenting a possible explanation for male sport's dominant popularity (Apostolou et al., 2014). Furthermore, men are often associated with mental and physical toughness, power, confidence, and competitiveness. While also possessing a larger aerobic capacity, greater muscular strength and being more risk willing compared to females. Thus, men are found to be the ideal athlete (Cheuvront et al., 2005; Deaner et al., 2016; Raney & Bryant, 2009; Schaal et al., 2011). Because there are fundamental biological differences between men and women whilst evolving at the same pace, this gap in performance may never close (Capranica et al., 2013). On the other hand, Emmonds et al. (2019), emphasize how the lack of research on elite female athletes may have caused an inability to maximize female performances within sports, which may further enhance the existing gap. This was exemplified when the female world champions in football lost to an under-15 boys' team, who were far superior in their game (Griffee, 2017). Another example is the numerous times that professional female athletes have been outperformed by non-elite males (boys under the age of 18) within athletics (Coleman & Shreve, n.d.). Furthermore, a male tennis player ranked 203rd beat the Williams sisters, both ranked within the top 20, back-to-back in a tennis match during the Australian Open in '98 (Kollare, 2021; Women's Tennis Association, n.d.-a, n.d.-b).

At the same time, a Norwegian study reports differences in athletic-related offerings from an early age (e.g., video analysis of competition, paid trainer, etc.), implying that male athletes have an advantage on their way to the top athlete status (Lie, 2017b; Lie et al., 2020). This advantage manifested itself when college basketball player Sedona Prince showed the difference of facilities for the male and female athletes at the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) tournament, where male athletes had a significantly higher quality of available facilities (Bassuk, 2019; Brassil, 2021). Still, young female athletes are very unlikely to pursue the top athletic status and value higher education as more important than an athletic career (Flanagan et al., 2007). While the underlying factors for these results are unclear, it does indicate that female athletes' inferior level of motivation leads them to train less efficiently compared to male athletes. Implying that the work put down, within some sports is not equal (Lie et al., 2021). However, the line of reasoning that is based on athletic performance is often downplayed and outed as discriminatory against women when debating equal pay, thus, social expectations of gender equality have found their way to sports.

In recent years, discussions have flourished regarding differences in athletes' salaries. Male athletes tend to be granted a higher salary level compared to females, illustrated by the 2020 Forbes 100 highest-paid athletes list including only two women (Badenhausen, 2020). The evolution of salaries within sports shows an increasing trend, where athletes went from being a relatively low paid trade to a very lucrative profession. This increase is largely connected to the expansion of sports consumption, as well as the broadened broadcasting of sports events, with television as the main distribution channel (Andreff & Staudohar, 2000; Norton & Olds, 2001).

As media coverage mainly features male sports, marketeers wanting to sponsor female sports have met several barriers due to lack of media coverage and its way of addressing female sports, trends, social norms, and cultural aspects of its senior management (Shaw & Amis, 2001). In 2019, the UN Women (2020) reported that 7% of global sponsorship were allocated towards female athletes/teams. Recent reports show that lucrative sponsorship deals are awarded with five times as high frequency towards male athletes compared to their female counterparts, despite competing in the same sport and/or at the same level (Afami, 2021). Providing barriers to allocate sponsorship funds towards female athletes, arguing that female athletes are perceived to be less profitable compared to their counterparts. Paradoxically, the Fifa Women's World Cup Final was the most tweeted event in 2011 (The Commission on the Future of Women's Sport, 2011). As female sports grew substantially through the 2010s, the historic athletic gender-balanced 2020 Olympics showcase the emerging commercial potential of female athletes/teams (The International Olympic Committee, 2021). Nonetheless, a list of the top 10 highest paid females illustrated that Alexandra Morgan (10th) and Sofia Kenin (9th) received \$200.000 and \$1.5 million more in endorsements compared to their male counterparts; Carson Wentz and Kirk Cousins, respectively (Cash, 2020).

Regardless of the flourishing discussion and focus on the social expectation towards the sports scene. Research has yet to address how the pay gap in sports might affect consumers' attitudes towards sponsors in relation to their perception of fairness. Fairness being defined as "the quality of treating people equally" (Cambridge Dictionary, n.d.). Furthermore, research shows that consumers' perception affects both their decision journey and a sponsor's obtained customer-based brand equity (CBBE) (Aaker, 2009; Keller, 1993, 2001; Kotler et al., 2018; Sheppard et al., 1988). Thus, providing a reason to believe that consumers'

perception of fairness on sports sponsorship allocation can have several effects on CBBE. While the current body of information indicates that an equal allocation of sponsorship funds is more aligned with social expectations and political correctness, it is conflicting that the metrics to secure return on investments favors a larger allocation towards male athletes/teams. Which underlines the dilemma brand managers face when allocating sponsorship spending, as the decision could gain support, cause brand aversion, or have no effect on consumers at all.

Due to the lack of research, a combination between a descriptive and exploratory approach could provide insights into how fair sponsorship allocation is perceived and further how this perception of fairness affects obtained CBBE. By exposing respondents to content reflecting media coverage in favor of status quo or for equal pay, the exploratory study can also provide useful insights into how media discussion affects consumers' perception of fairness. Entering the post-pandemic era, brand managers need to secure return of the investment in sports sponsorship, as the landscape has been affected by the loss of viewership's within sports, loss of revenue and increased demand of sports social responsibility (Futterman et al., 2020; Lange, 2020b; Reimer, n.d.; Wragg & Quartey, 2020). As a tool for obtaining social justice, «cancel-culture» has over the past years showcased how a decision unaligned with the public could damage the brand (Bakhtiari, 2020). In support of this, research found in 2018 that 64% of consumers are willing to buy or boycott a brand based on the brand's political or social stands (Edelman, n.d.). Thus, the results could provide useful information on how brand managers can operate within sports sponsorship to avoid social cancellation whilst securing their return on investment. The following paper examines previous literature relevant to the context and points out gaps this research aims to narrow. Further, a survey is conducted to retrieve relevant data before suitable analysis and results are reported. The paper concludes with a discussion of the findings and the academic and managerial impact before acknowledging certain limitations associated with this thesis and encouraging future research on the topic.

2.0 Literature Review

2.1 Sports Sponsorship

Sponsorship has become an important marketing phenomenon in brands total marketing mix, especially within mainstream sports (Cornwell, 1995). From a corporate perspective, sponsorships are generally based on objectives to raise brand awareness and brand image, increase sales and market share, gain competitive advantage, reach a specific segment, or even enhance staff relations (Apostolopoulou & Papadimitriou, 2004). Where the most important KPI is considered to be media coverage (Abratt et al., 1987). The attention created by media is further drawn to winning athletes/teams due to the extended coverage, displaying how the brand itself is maximizing the long-term value of the brand with enhanced efficiency and effectiveness through sponsorship (Aaker, 1992; Wood, 2000). Elements that go beyond product quality has become an essential part of the total evaluation of a brand (O'Cass & Frost, 2002), thus sponsorships contribute to the very definition of brand equity as "the added value with which a brand endows a product" (Farquhar, 1989, p. 24). Several authors have since the '80s illustrated the elements on which brand equity is built and it has become a widely accepted concept that can generate hard-to-copy value to a brand (Chieng & Lee, 2011). Aaker (2009) illustrates how brand loyalty, brand awareness, perceived quality, brand associations, and other proprietary brand assets are key elements of what makes brand equity. Keller (1993, 2001) moved to include the consumer's perspective, conceptualizing the CBBE, defined as the differential effect of brand knowledge on consumer response to the marketing of a brand. Thus, sports sponsorship is used to create favorable predispositions towards the brand (Cornwell & Humphreys, 2013; Stipp & Schiavone, 1996; Stuart et al., 1987).

By definition, sponsorship is a "provision of assistance either financial or in kind to an activity by a commercial organization for the purpose of achieving commercial objectives" (Meenaghan, 1983, p. 9). The framework of Speed and Thompson (2000) propose that sponsors perceived to be sincere, in both its activity and commitment, evoke more favorable responses from consumers, which is supported by both previous and later research (Cornwell & Maignan, 1998; Crimmins & Horn, 1996; d'Astous & Bitz, 1995; Olson, 2010). On the other hand, sponsors perceived to be ubiquitous and incoherent with the consumers' social expectations, run the risk of severely damaging its brand, possibly causing brand aversion, and generating fewer advantages compared to sponsors who are perceived

to be sincere and coherent with social expectations (Werther & Chandler, 2005). Regardless, sports sponsorship has the potential to both add value and change consumers' attitude toward the sponsoring brand, thus, generating sustainable competitive advantages (Filho, 2019; Speed & Thompson, 2000; Woodside & Summers, 2012). According to a study conducted amongst several Canadian Corporations, sports sponsorships were selected on the basis of maximizing return on investment, thus, exclusivity, generated awareness and positive image were valued above all other metrics. Additionally, no corporation reported sports sponsorships to be motivated by philanthropic objectives, providing support to the notion that today's metrics for rewarding sponsorship agreements is mostly coherent with a corporation's business objectives (Copeland et al., 1996). Therefore, running the risk of causing damage to the sponsoring brand if the metric used for allocation does not cohere with consumer social expectations on the subject in question.

Sports research has been and is, similar to the actual sports scene, male dominant. Where both researchers and the actual research seem prone to male superiority justifying a pay gap between genders. Although later research, presented by companies and/or researchers that sympathize with the cause of achieving equality of the outcome is illustrating a different view that highlights increased consumer interest in female sports. Institutions that openly support the cause of gender equality can be subject to criticism surrounding their biases in presenting equality measures (e.g., UN). To this day, the body of research does not address specific parts of social expectations regarding allocation of sponsorship funds, leading brand managers to potentially underestimate the impact of the underlying metrics for allocating sponsorship agreements between male and female athletes/teams.

2.2 The Commercialization of Sports

The commercialization of sports has not only made sponsoring athletes/teams a vital part of building CBBE but made the profession of «professional athlete» highly lucrative in the process. Thereby, sports, in general, became highly dependent on sponsorship generated income (Speed & Thompson, 2000). From a global perspective, the overall sponsorship revenue was in 2018 at \$65.8 billion and is expected to increase even further (Guttmann, 2019). Looking back, the '96 Atlanta Olympics raised \$426 million in sponsorship income, while the 2020 Tokyo

Olympics generated over \$3.192 billion (Grohmann, 2019; Lange, 2020a; Nikkei Asia, 2020; The International Olympic Committee, 2020). In relation, the Super Bowls' audience increased by 52.53% from 1990 to 2015, while an increase in sports viewership across sports of about 6 million is expected, passing 160 million viewership in the US by 2024 (Lange, 2020d; Richter, 2020). Underlining the scope of reach sports sponsorship has in terms of generating brand awareness and attention.

A century ago, the baseball player Babe Ruth had a salary of \$80.000 a year, which at the time and compared to his peers, was groundbreaking (Anderson, 2000). Furthermore, the sports idols of the '50s and '60s could surprisingly serve you in a restaurant out of season, as a second income was vital for top athletes to make ends meet (Taylor, 2019). Then TV infiltrated the world of sports. Playing a crucial role in how, when, why, and where sports are consumed by the public, mass media has been the driver in the commercialization of sports (Pfister, 2010). In '97, the average salary for a basketball player in the National Basketball Association (NBA) was \$2.1 million, \$1.350 more than Babe Ruth's salary (when adjusted for inflation). Fast forward another 20 years, inflation set the average salary of '97 at \$4.975 less than the actual average in 2019 at \$8.320 (Gough, 2021). TV networks' willingness to pay for licenses to broadcast sports has been the main driver of the enormous increase in athletes' salaries. However, while male athletes in the NBA doubled their average salary between the '10 - '11 and the '19 - '20 seasons, their female counterparts experienced an average salary increase of only 15.32% (National Basketball Association, n.d.).

An extensive overview of the relationship between an athlete's salary and earnings from sponsorship agreements is at large absent. Nonetheless, based on the 2020 Forbes list of 100 highest-earning athletes, 30.26% of their total salary was on average generated from sponsorship agreements, regardless of gender (Appendix 1). Where the contribution of sponsorship agreements varied from 0.30% to 98% (Badenhausen, 2020; Gough, 2020a). In coherence with the increased sponsorship revenue in sports events, sponsorship accounts for a significant part of an athlete's salary today (Guttmann, 2019). As the list only includes two female athletes, this demonstrates the existing pay gap between male and female in sports. A Norwegian case-study further confirms the gap, illustrating an approximately \$11.7 million difference in favor of male athletes, across sport branches (Lie, 2017a). The reasoning that male athletes generate more revenue,

thus, are awarded with higher valued sponsorship agreements is mainly presented by male stakeholders (Capranica et al., 2013; Fuhrmeister, 2019; Hagen, 2019; Salary.com, 2019). Who may stand to gain from male athletes/teams generating higher salaries than their female counterparts, who have been known to criticize this basis for salary (Townes, 2019).

The lucrativeness, as well as the inconsistency in sponsorships generated value, can be exemplified by the sponsorship agreement that Nike, a brand that in recent years have increased its focus on equal distribution of sponsorship agreements between male and female athletes, signed with a top female football player worth \$1.162 million (Danziger, 2019; Næss, 2020; Nike Inc., n.d.-a, n.d.-b). The male equivalent signed a deal at the beginning of his career at \$1.200 million back in 2003 (Gerencer, 2016), equal to almost \$1.700 million today. Considering that, sponsorship spending has increased by 73.6% from 2007 to 2018 (Guttmann, 2019), the contract signed by the female athlete does not reflect the increase in sponsorship spending, nor inflation. However, looking at top tennis players, Naomi Osaka's sponsorship deal with Nike sets her on the same level as Rafael Nadal, illustrating a more equal distribution of sponsorship funds between genders (Badenhausen, n.d.; Bhargav, 2020). Even though sponsorship contributes to a significant part of an athlete's salary, research does not address how uneven allocation of sponsorship funds implicates CBBE.

2.2.1 Image Transfer

"Sport generates fanship that is more intense, more obtrusive, and more enduring than it is for other forms of entertaining social activities without direct participation in the spectated events" (Zillmann & Paulus, 1993, p. 604), allowing for spillover effects from the sports generated emotions and/or the image transfer from an athlete/team to the brand. The connection between athlete/team and the brand initiates the same customer response to both entities, thus, allowing one to benefit from the positive response generated by the other entity, moderated by the consumer's perception of fit. This transfer can potentially strengthen CBBE, making sports sponsorships highly lucrative (Cornwell & Maignan, 1998; Crimmins & Horn, 1996; d'Astous & Bitz, 1995; Grohs & Reisinger, 2005; Madrigal, 2001; Olson, 2010; Speed & Thompson, 2000; Werther & Chandler, 2005). Sponsoring athletes provides a gateway to transfer their stardom, physical attractiveness and likeability to the brand, whilst cutting through increasing clutter

and keeping the consumers' attention, similar to the benefits of celebrity endorsements (Garland & Charbonneau, 2006; Ohanian, 2013). Furthermore, as sponsorship agreements often compel or encourage the athletes to wear the sponsoring brand logos before, during and after the broadcasted events, the forced brand exposure enhances consumers probability of brand recollection and liking (T. Meenaghan, 2001). Research has also found that males tend to recall significantly more brands that sponsor sports compared to females. Although, this could be a reflection of sports sponsorships being dominated by brands that typically appeal to male consumers (Han et al., 2003; Kinney et al., 2008; McDaniel & Kinney, 1999; Stipp & Schiavone, 1996).

According to Thomson (2006), higher levels of satisfaction, trust and commitment can be achieved through attachment to a human brand (e.g., an athlete), making consumers feel appreciated and empowered. Looking at a recent example, Nike faced mixed reactions by sponsoring Colin Kaepernick, the National Football League (NFL) player who took a knee during the national anthem (Martinez, 2018). While the stock price decreased 3% upon the announcement, sales reported an increase of 31% in less than a week, despite people destroying Nike products on social media (Gregory, 2018). Underlining how consumers' attachment to the athlete could affect the brand's obtained CBBE, as coherence with social expectations enables consumers positive response (e.g., increased sales).

Existing research suggests that the distinction between male and female sports possibly could dilute the image transfer. Historically, studies prove that the portrayal of athletes in the media and TV coverage of sports has been rather maledominant, mainly motivated by meeting the consumers' preferences and maximizing return on investment (Cooky et al., 2013; Duncan, 2006; King, 2007; Koivula, 1999). While the media tends to credit male accomplishments to male superiority, female abilities are downplayed and more often accredited to luck, emotion, or even strong male influence (Fink, 2015). In addition to the dominantly negative nature of how female sports are addressed, the lack in both frequency and quality may have negatively impacted consumers' perception towards it (Cooky et al., 2013; Eastman & Billings, 2000; Messner et al., 1993; Trolan, 2013). Thus, providing a basis for why sponsorship tends to favor male athletes/teams. Furthermore, theory on image transfer combined with the general valence of how female sports are addressed provides a foundation for possible negative associations of weakness, sexualization and unimpressive performances associations that could

spill over on the sponsoring brands. Undermining the initial goal of sports sponsorship of generating favorable associations, making it less desirable.

2.2.2 Fanship

Existing research shows that sports audiences tend to have a male majority, and that men, in general, are more interested in watching male sports (Apostolou et al., 2014; Wann, 1995). Aligned with the narrative that sports are a male domain, males play sports with approximately twice as high frequency as females (Deaner et al., 2016). A survey amongst US sports fans uncovered that twice as many females categorized themselves as "not a fan at all", while more than twice as many males fell into the "avid fan" category (Gough, 2020b). This difference in fanship provides a basis for the differing valence and frequency of media coverage between male and female athletes/teams and renders support towards an uneven allocation of sponsorship funds. Furthermore, male sports are arguably perceived as a more lucrative market than female sports when it comes to sponsorship agreements, thus, rendering additional support to an already existing gap in pay and attention in favor of male athletes.

2.3 Gender Equality in Sports

Equality has become a relevant topic in several aspects of society, including sports. More specifically, gender equality and equal pay. According to the UN, social norms hold a prominent role in the challenges in achieving gender equality (United Nations, n.d.). Meaning that social norms and cultural aspects (e.g., traditional gender roles) present a possible underlying reasoning for differences in consumers' perceptions of and interest in male athletes compared to females. People's perception of the world around them is built upon social norms and culture, their senses, past experiences, media, etc., in order to process information easier and to create a sense of the world (Kahneman, 2012; Keller, 2013). Hence, people's perceptions are not a direct replica of reality (Maund, 2003). As attitudes and perceptions are tied to people's identity and are relatively enduring constructs, they have proven difficult to change (Petty et al., 2003). In regards to allocation of sponsorship funds, today's underlying metrics are largely based on an Equality of Opportunity principle (e.g., audience size, media coverage and generated revenue), rendering inequality in outcome (Copeland et al., 1996). As stated earlier, male athletes/teams generate a large audience, positive attitudes, and

substantial media coverage, thus, presenting an ideal sponsoring object. Although, with the increased attention towards equality between genders within sports, this construct has in recent times been subject to criticism.

Equality of Outcome and Equality of Opportunity are two different principles of equality, both providing guidelines as to how equality should be measured (Fleurbaey, 1995; Phillips, 2004; Roemer, 2002). The constructs are rendering equality in different ways, promoting different views on generating true equality and are deemed most fair by consumers. Equality of Outcome is promoting the equalizing of results/adequate individual outcome (Phillips, 2004). However, this construct has been challenged (Fleurbaey, 1995; Nozick, 1973; Roemer & Trannoy, 2013). It has been argued that the assessment of justice and morality behind the distribution of resources, funds, welfare etc., is lacking when solely based upon final outcomes. This renders support to Equality of Opportunity's principle, which includes both an equalizing and a disequalizing aspect (Roemer & Trannoy, 2013). Equality of Opportunity seeks to equalize the choice sets of all the outcome levels within reach for each individual. The concept of Equality of Opportunity entails that each individual is provided with equal opportunities, the final outcome is then dependent on individual effort, which according to "opportunity supporters", renders ethically acceptable differences (Roemer, 2002). Although, equalizing opportunities have also been challenged for being inefficient, unfeasible and for being reliant on "a shaky sociological and philosophical basis" (Fleurbaey, 1995, p. 27). When examining consumers' perception in relation to sponsorship allocation, fairness is introduced to measure how consumers perceive the allocation of sponsorship funds based on the principles of Equality of Outcome and Opportunity. With media coverage aspects of the discussion on differences in athlete/team salaries, it is reasonable to believe that consumers' perception of fairness is to a certain degree affected by the valence and frequency of media coverage (Apostolou et al., 2014; Deaner et al., 2016; James & Ridinger, 2002; Lange, 2020c; Scheadler & Wagstaff, 2018).

Equality of Outcome	Equality of Opportunity		
Equal individual outcome	Equal individual opportunity		
Sponsorship agreements based on: Equal workEqual effort/training	Sponsorship agreements based on: Generated revenue Audience size Media coverage		

Table 1: Principles of Equality

Existing research on media coverages' effect mainly regards how the physical, psychological, and differences in media coverage are affecting consumers' attitudes and consumption habits of male vs. female sports. When looking at media coverage, this thesis will mainly focus on the valence of typical media coverage within sports, which includes the wording of how the pay gap is addressed. As female sports are generally described differently than male sports, and this is considered a source of differences in attitudes towards the two, this thesis will examine if the difference in addressing the pay gap has the same effect. Thus, this research aims to assess to which degree media has an impact on whether consumers evaluate Equality of Outcome or Opportunity as having the highest quality of equal treatment in relation to allocating sports sponsorship funds between male and female athletes. Based on this, the following research question and attached hypotheses are formulated:

RQ1: How does media coverage influence consumer perceptions of fairness of sports sponsorship allocation?

H1a: Exposure to Equality of Outcome positive information has an effect on how consumers perceive the fairness of this principle in relation to allocation of sponsorship funds.

H1b: Exposure to Equality of Opportunity positive information has an effect on how consumers perceive the fairness of this principle in relation to allocation of sponsorship funds.

H1c: The valence of media coverage has an effect on consumers' perception of fairness in relation to allocation of sponsorship funds.

2.3.1 The Rise of Female Sports

Despite previous research showing male dominance in all aspects of sports, the past decade has showcased female athletes' ability to "generate substantial TV audiences, deliver value to sponsors, and draw tens of thousands of fans" (Messner, 1988; Raviprakash et al., 2020, p. 51). The frequency of media coverage towards female sports has increased substantially, although it is still marginal compared to their male counterparts (Schmidt, 2016; Sherwood et al., 2017). Nonetheless,

amongst US viewers, the Women's World Cup finals of 2019 reported a 22% larger audience than the 2018 male finals (Hess, 2019). In tennis, women have received slightly higher TV ratings compared to their male counterparts, despite 41% less media coverage (Raviprakash et al., 2020; Signal AI, 2019). Furthermore, research shows that 51% out of the 84% general sports fans who reported an interest in watching female sports were male. Indicating an increasing interest in female sports amongst sports' main demographic segment, males. Thus, arguably increasing the commercial potential of female athletes/teams for sports sponsorship (The Nielsen Company, 2018). Nonetheless, by examining arousal levels when watching male and female athletes, a self-report study indicated that both male and female spectators experienced higher arousal when watching male athletes (Angelini, 2008). However, the measurement of their physiological reaction did not cohere with these results, suggesting that their reported response could be influenced by attitudes derived from social norms and expectations. The increased interest in consuming female sports, might generate a change in frequency and valence surrounding female sports. Thus, providing a greater basis for sponsoring female sports in the future.

Incoherence with social expectations can damage the brand, therefore providing an important basis for addressing the insufficient research on how consumers perceive the fairness of the relationship between gender in sports and allocated sponsorship funds, and more importantly how this perception affects the sponsoring brand (Werther & Chandler, 2005). The increased focus on equality between genders arguably supports the use of the Equality of Outcome principle to allocate sponsorship funds. As CBBE is generated through positive associations, liking and support, using consumer approved metrics for allocating sponsorship funds may be of interest to maximize the brands return of investment. Literature within sponsorship research does not state how equal or unequal sponsorship allocation is perceived by the consumer, and the effect this has on a brand. Therefore, this thesis will examine how a brand's sponsorship allocation influences CBBE through consumers' perceptions of fairness, focusing on consumer perceptions of Equality of Outcome vs. Opportunity. Thus, the following research question and attached hypotheses are formulated:

RQ2: How do media coverage and how consumers perceive the fairness of sponsorship allocation between male and female athletes/teams influence sponsors' customer-based brand equity?

H2a: The valence of media coverage has an effect on sponsors obtained CBBE who use the Equality of Outcome principle for allocation of sponsorship funds.

H2b: Consumers' perception of fairness of the Equality of Outcome principle has an effect on the sponsors CBBE when using Equality of Outcome as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds.

H2c: Consumers' perception of fairness of the Equality of Opportunity principle has an effect on the sponsors obtained CBBE when using Equality of Outcome as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds.

H2d: The valence of media coverage has an effect on sponsors obtained CBBE who use the Equality of Opportunity principle for allocation of sponsorship funds.

H2e: Consumers' perception of fairness of the Equality of Outcome principle has an effect on the sponsors obtained CBBE when using Equality of Opportunity as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds.

H2f: Consumers' perception of fairness of the Equality of Opportunity principle has an effect on the sponsors obtained CBBE when using Equality of Opportunity as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds.

3.0 Methodology

3.1 Study

The research design was of descriptive and experimental nature, where the aim was to examine possible relationships between media coverage, consumers' perception of fairness regarding sponsorship allocation and CBBE (Malhotra, 2019). The data was collected by conducting an experiment in coherence with a questionnaire

(Appendix 2) in order to explore the relationship between media coverage and the average consumers' perception of fairness of sports sponsorship allocation and to further look at this in the context of a sponsoring brands obtained CBBE (Gerber & Green, 2012; Malhotra, 2019). In order to answer the formulated research questions, an experiment with a between-subject design was conducted. Treatments were distributed at the very beginning of the questionnaire, in the form of a piece of information that represented different valences of media coverage. *Treatment 1* presented information that positively reflected the Equality of Opportunity principle through promoting business metrics as to why the gender gap exists (Angelini, 2008; Apostolou et al., 2014; Deaner et al., 2016; Flanagan et al., 2007; Fuhrmeister, 2019; Hagen, 2019; James & Ridinger, 2002; Lange, 2020c; Salary.com, 2019; Thibault et al., 2010);

In many sports, male athletes earn substantially more money than female athletes. Generally, a majority of these earnings comes from sponsorship agreements. Male athletes generally draw a bigger audience, and offer greater business potential for the sponsoring brand, which is why sponsors generally pay more to male athletes.

while *Treatment 2* presented information that positively portrayed the Equality of Outcome principle through the emphasis on the unfairness of gaps in pay between male and female athletes (Hess, 2019; Lie, 2017a, 2017b; Lie et al., 2020; Messner, 1988; Raviprakash et al., 2020; Signal AI, 2019; The Commission on the Future of Women's Sport, 2011; The Nielsen Company, 2018; UN Women, 2020);

In many sports, male athletes earn substantially more money than female athletes, despite female athletes reporting to train just as hard. Female athletes have expressed that this gap in pay is unfair and that they should be rewarded just the same as their male counterparts, based on the "same work" principle.

To avoid possible biases, both treatments were only presented as a simple text, without further visual illustration nor as a statement from athletes/teams, trainers, stakeholders and so forth. Assuming that the population, to a certain degree, had previous knowledge on the subject due to the increasing media coverage over the past years, the one-time exposure could also work as a reminder of either the

Equality of Outcome or Opportunity positive media coverage. A control group was not exposed to any treatment, enabling the assessment of the possible relationship between the different valence of media coverage and, compared to the scenario where no media coverage was supplied. Participants were randomly assigned to a treatment- or control group, which prohibits selection bias (Gerber & Green, 2012; Malhotra, 2019).

The questionnaire aimed to examine consumers' perceptions towards the fairness of sponsorship allocation when based on the two different principles of equality. As previously stated, brand awareness, associations, perceived quality, and brand loyalty are generally agreed upon by researchers to be key elements of CBBE (Aaker, 2009; Keller, 2001). To address sponsorship allocation and media coverage's effect on CBBE, the main focus was brand associations and loyalty through identifying how sponsorship allocation decisions affect consumers liking/disliking and willingness to support a brand. Perception of fairness was used as the main element of the first section of the questionnaire. Due to the lack of research on the subject, the measurement of fairness is developed on the basis of the principles of Equality of Outcome vs. Opportunity (Appendix 2).

The scale used to measure the perception of fairness was inspired by a Semantic Differential Scale, where endpoints were associated with bipolar labels of semantic meaning: «discriminating against women» vs. «discriminating against men» (Q1-Q8) (Malhotra, 2019). Thereby, the midpoint of the scale represented that the consumer perceived it as «fair», thus neither discriminatory towards women nor men. A seven-point-Likert-scale was used to evaluate how consumers perceive Equality of Outcome vs. Opportunity as a basis for sponsorship allocation through reliable metrics (Q9-Q11) (Allen & Seaman, 2007). Consumers' propensity to like or dislike and support or discontinue support towards brands based on different metrics of sponsorship allocation were measured using the semantic scale with these labels respectively (Q12-Q14). While the approach demanded somewhat higher cognitive efforts from the respondents, the scale helps reduce the effect of consumers' conscience when addressing a sensitive subject (Friborg et al., 2006). To secure the coherency and facilitate the respondent's cognitive processing while answering the questionnaire, variables set to measure fairness and CBBE were grouped together (Krosnick & Presser, 2018). Furthermore, questions were counterbalanced, and interchanged between the nature of statements in order to promote true answers (Adams & Cox, 2008). Moreover, the serial order of questioning and keeping the questionnaire relatively short aimed to capture and keep the respondent's attention through the entire questionnaire. This was further achieved by firstly introducing the questions related to perceived fairness and CBBE, as these questions presented the need for a high level of cognitive effort. The questions were randomized and presented individually in order to avoid the occurrence of trends on the basis of order and prohibit respondents from changing answers after they are given. Respondents were also given fixed-alternative questions in order to strengthen the reliability of the data, as the data is structured and won't fluctuate with each respondent (Malhotra, 2019).

To examine attitudes amongst consumers is challenging, due to the complexity surrounding a person's attitudes and their willingness and ability to communicate it (Donoghue, 2000; Steinman, 2009). This thesis' theme may be perceived as a sensitive topic and evoke feelings of discomfort due to social expectations of political correctness regarding equality, thus, the structured survey can prohibit construct validity, which can obstruct the respondent's ability to answer honestly. Therefore, the projective technique «third person questioning» was used to bypass such challenges and to remove the respondent's notion of personal accountability (Donoghue, 2000; Malhotra, 2019; Steinman, 2009). Completing the questionnaire with questions that require the least cognitive effort, the respondent's demographics and also their preferences regarding sports were mapped out, providing insight into demographic differences across preferences and attitudes (Krosnick & Presser, 2018).

Aligned with an exploratory research design, the *Fairness Index* will be developed to look for patterns or structure based on the observations and will be determined using a confirmatory factor analysis in the later stages (Janssens et al., 2008). Followed by an ANOVA analysis, the conclusive stages for the first part of the study will determine if the treatments have an effect on consumers' perception of fairness. To examine whether the *Fairness Index* has an effect on CBBE, the following part of the questionnaire measures consumers' level of liking/disliking and willingness to support a brand in relation to its allocation of sponsorship funds according to either the Equality of Outcome or Opportunity principle. To investigate a possible pattern or structure between the developed variables measuring brand equity, an exploratory factor analysis is conducted before a regression analysis will determine how and if the perception of fairness could affect brand liking and to a certain degree of loyalty.

A pre-test was conducted through qualitative interviews, where the questionnaire was distributed to a small, but diversified sample upon final distribution. Thus, using the nonprobability sampling technique, «convenience sample» (Etikan, 2016). Allowing us to detect and eliminate potential problems related to the questionnaire (Malhotra, 2019). Small changes were made to the wording in order to ensure unambiguity of the questions, enhancing the validity of the questionnaire.

3.2 Sampling and Data Collection

The finished survey was distributed using a convenience sampling technique, through Facebook and LinkedIn, whilst aiming for a snowball effect to obtain a certain number of respondents (Baltar & Brunet, 2012). To counteract the selection bias of a convenience sample, the survey was further distributed in three forums, two based on sports interest and one general to obtain a higher percentage of respondents at random (Taherdoost, 2016). Additionally, the survey was distributed in three different Facebook-groups outside of the authors network in order to gain a more representative sample (Malhotra, 2019). Due to private policy regulations, the data does not include information that determines which distribution channel the respondents represent. In turn, this constraint inhibits the assessment of how the respondents' demographics might differ depending on the distribution channel. While a convenience sample is not recommended for descriptive studies, the main focus of this study lies on an exploratory design, which does not advise against a convenience sample, due to the goal being to generate insights (Malhotra, 2019).

3.2.1 Data Cleansing and Final Sample

The survey was online from March 12th and was withdrawn April 26th, 2021. Generating a complete sample of 137 respondents after data cleansing, which mainly consisted of removing partial answers and outliers (row 376-137) (Malhotra, 2019). 62.8% of the final sample consists of female respondents, while 35.8% is male (the remaining 1.5% would rather not say).

Majority of the sample falls into the *age* group 20-24 or 25-34, with 86.1% of the sample reporting to be under 34. An overall view of respondents' *countries* of origin showcase that the sample consists of respondents from 14 different countries around the world, although the majority is located in western countries.

60.6% report that they to some degree identify as a *fan of sports*, while 19% report to disagree with this statement. Whether or not respondents are *supporters* of a specific sports team/club is rather equally distributed as 48.9% reports their support, while a rather small portion of 19.7% reports that they are an *active member* of a sports team. Interestingly, despite a female dominated sample but in line with previous research within consumer preferences between male and female sports, 64.2% state that their *favorite athlete* is male. Furthermore, the preferred *channel for sports* consumption remains TV (62.8%), followed by streaming/Internet (33.6%). Lastly, the vast majority of the sample spends less than 5 hours per week *consuming sports* (93.4%), while the majority of this group consume between zero and three hours of sports per week. Thus, the sample does feature a majority of marginal sports consumers.

The sample is further allocated into Treatment 1, Treatment 2, and a Control Group with 42 (30.7%), 51 (37.2%) and 44 (32.1%) respondents respectively. Where respondents in Treatment 1 are distributed quite equally between male and female, female respondents count for the majority of respondents in Treatment 2 (66.6%) and Control Group (68%).

Treatment 1	Treatment 2	Treatment 3
42 (30.7%)	51 (37.2%)	44 (32.1%)
Positive towards Equality	Positive towards Equality	No information
of Opportunity	of Outcome	

Table 2: Treatment Groups

4.0 Analysis and Findings

4.1 Factor Analysis

To create indexes for consumers' perceptions of fairness in regards to allocation of sponsorship funds between genders, and to create an index for the CBBE construct, two factor analyzes were conducted. The aim was to decrease the size of the dataset and create factors that were suitable for further analysis. The Principal Components method was used for extraction, and the Varimax rotated solution was used in order to enhance interpretability of the results (Malhotra, 2019).

When conducting the factor analysis to create the *Fairness Indexes*, the a priori determination method was used in order to determine the number of factors, thus, a confirmatory factor analysis was performed. As two different equality constructs were represented in the collected data, the factor analysis was set to

produce two factors. The factor analysis illustrates the correlation between questions that are worded positively towards the principle of Equality of Outcome and questions that are positive towards the Equality of Opportunity principle also correlate with each other. Thus, creating an *Equality of Outcome Index* and an *Equality of Opportunity Index* (Table 3). The KMO and Bartlett's test show that the factor analysis is suitable for this data (Sig.: .001 <.05) and this solution presents an explained variance 47% (Appendix 3). All variables are included as is, except the variable regarding whether it is unfair to pay male athletes more than female athletes (Q10). This variable is coded into an opposite scale to cohere with the other variables.

	Item	Cronbach's Alpha
	Equality of Opportunity Index	.705
Q3	Paying male athletes <i>more</i> than female athletes because men are stronger and faster: Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men.	
Q4	Paying male athletes <i>more</i> than female athletes because men attract larger audiences, media coverage and revenue: Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men.	
Q7	Sponsors who pay male athletes <i>more</i> than female athletes because of larger audiences, media coverage and revenue: Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men.	
Q8	Sponsors who pay male athletes <i>more</i> than female athletes because of better athleticism: Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men.	
Q9	Most people find it as good business sense for sponsors to pay male athletes <i>more</i> than female athletes: Strongly Disagree <-1 7-> Strongly Agree.	
	Equality of Outcome Index	.633
Q1	Paying male and female athletes <i>equally</i> when men are stronger and faster: Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men.	
Q2	Paying male and female athletes <i>equally</i> when men attract larger audiences, media coverage and revenue: Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men.	
Q5	Sponsors who pay <i>the same</i> to male and female athletes regardless of audience size, media coverage and revenue: Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men.	
Q6	Sponsors who pay <i>the same</i> to male and female athletes regardless of athletic ability: Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men.	
Q10	Most people find it unfair that sponsors pay male athletes <i>more</i> than female athletes (Reversed scale): Strongly Disagree <-1 7-> Strongly Agree. Strongly Agree.<-1 7-> Strongly Disagree	

Table 3: Factor Analysis Equality Indexes

In the factor analysis that was set to create indexes of CBBE perceptions amongst consumers, the determination of factors was based on the Eigenvalues. Thus, an exploratory factor analysis, which resulted in a two-factor solution. Here, correlations based on which equality principle the wording is positive towards was

identified. This creates two factors that represent consumer perceptions of CBBE towards a brand when the questions are worded positively towards the Equality of Outcome and the Opportunity principle (Table 4). The KMO and Bartlett's test show that the data is suitable for factor analysis (Sig.: .001 <.05), and this solution presents an explained variance of 71% (Appendix 4).

	Item	Cronbach's Alpha
	CBBE Index (Outcome Metrics)	.413
Q11	Fans are less likely to support sponsors who pay male athletes <i>more</i> than female athletes: Strongly Disagree <-1 7-> Strongly Agree.	
Q12	Most people are likely to react to companies/brands that allocate their sponsorship spending equally between male and female athletes/teams by: More strongly disliking the <-1 7-> More strongly liking the company/brand.	
	CBBE Index (Opportunity Metrics)	.734
Q13	Most people are likely to react to companies/brands that allocate their sponsorship spending to male and female sports according to the relative size of audiences and media coverage by: More strongly disliking the <-1 7-> More strongly liking the company/brand.	
Q14	Most people are likely to react to companies/brands that allocate their sponsorship spending to male and female sports according to the relative size of audiences and media coverage by: Discontinuing their support for the <-1 7-> More strongly supporting the company/brand.	

Table 4: Factor Analysis Brand Equity Indexes

4.1.1 Reliability Check

When conducting a factor analysis, further tests should be run in order to address whether the variables are measuring the same underlying constructs. The reliability of the factors was checked using Cronbach's Alpha, measuring the internal consistency of each factor (Tavakol & Dennick, 2011). The factors *Equality of Outcome Index*, *Equality of Opportunity Index* and *CBBE Index (Opportunity Metrics)* are all above the threshold of .600. However, the *CBBE Index (Outcome Metrics)*, consisting of consumers' propensity to like and support a brand when distributing its sponsorship funds equally, is according to the reliability check not suitable to combine for further analysis. This is due to the Cronbach's Alpha not meeting the required threshold with a value of .413. Thus, this factor will not be used further, and analysis will be conducted using each variable, *Liking* and *Support*.

ANOVA

4.2 The Influence of Valence of Media Coverage

To determine the effects of the treatments on consumers' perception of fairness regarding allocation of sponsorship funds, an ANOVA analysis was conducted using the *Equality of Outcome* and the *Equality of Opportunity Indexes*. Treatment 1 reflected the Equality of Opportunity principle, and Treatment 2 portrayed the Equality of Outcome principle. In order to obtain information about how the effect of one manipulation might differ from the effect of another, a Tukey multiple comparisons test was conducted (Lee & Lee, 2018). As the Tukey test is less conservative compared to other post-hoc tests, an adequate sample size was needed to prevent illogical results and heterogeneous subsets (Lee & Lee, 2018). The Levene test of homogeneity of variances confirms the appropriateness of an ANOVA and the multiple comparison for further analysis of the current sample (Malhotra, 2019). The ANOVA and Tukey multiple comparisons model is constructed with the aim of testing hypothesis 1a, 2b and 2c.

Group 1 Group 2

Control

 $\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{n})$

Sia

Measure	Gr	oup 1	Group 2	Control	F(p)	Sig.
description		mean	mean	group mean		
Equality of	4	1.0762	3.9843	4.1955	.812	.446
Outcome Inde	ex					
Equality of	3	3.1667	2.9333	3.0832	.952	.389
Opportunity I	index					
Multiple Com	parison (Tukey	HSD)				
-				Mean	Std.	Sig.
				Difference	Error	
Equality of	Treatment 1	Treat	ment 2	.09188	.16788	.848
Outcome		Control Group		11926	.17381	.772
	Treatment 2	Treat	ment 1	09188	.16788	.848
		Contr	ol Group	21114	.16577	.413
	Control Group	Treat	ment 1	.11926	.17381	.772
		Treat	ment 2	.21114	.16577	.413
Equality of	Treatment 1	Treat	ment 2	.23333	.20414	.489
Opportunity		Contr	ol Group	01061	.21135	.999
	Treatment 2	Treat	ment 1	23333	.20415	.489
		Contr	ol Group	24394	.16577	.449
	Control Group	Treat	ment 1	.01061	.17381	.999
		Treat	ment 2	.24394	.16577	.449

Table 5: ANOVA and Multiple Comparisons Analysis

Treatment 1 = Opportunity positive info. / Treatment 2 = Outcome positive info. / Control Group = No info.

4.2.1 Hypothesis Testing: Valence of Media Coverage and Fairness Perceptions
Hypothesis H1a aimed to examine if positively presenting information in favor of
Equality of Outcome in relation to sponsorship fund allocation will have an effect
on how fair consumers perceive this principle of equality. The Tukey multiple
comparison test illustrates no significant differences in the group means of how the
Equality of Outcome principle is perceived when exposed to Outcome positive
information (Treatment 2), compared to Opportunity positive information
(Treatment 1) (Sig.=.848) or no information at all (Sig.=.413) (Table 5). The results
are therefore, providing no support to hypothesis H1a.

Hypothesis H1b questioned if positively presenting information in favor of Equality of Opportunity in relation to sponsorship fund allocation had an effect on how fair consumers perceive this principle of equality. The Tukey multiple comparison shows no significant difference in the means of how the principle of Equality of Opportunity is perceived by the consumer when exposed to Opportunity positive information, compared to when exposed to Outcome positive (Sig.=.489) or no information (Sig.=.999) (Table 5). The results are therefore providing no support to hypothesis H1b.

Hypothesis H1c questioned if the valence of media coverage in general had an effect on how consumers perceive fairness constructs in relation to allocation of sponsorship funds. The ANOVA models find no significant differences among the means for the *Equality of Outcome Index* (Sig.=.446), nor for the *Equality of Opportunity Index* (Sig.=.389) (Table 5). These results imply that the treatments have not had an effect on how the respondents perceive the different fairness principles when related to sponsorship allocation. Meaning that being presented with a piece of information that favors either Equality of Outcome or Opportunity or not presented with any information, has no proven effect on the consumers' perceptions of the fairness of the different principles of equality. The results are therefore providing no support to hypothesis H1c.

H1a: Exposure to Equality of Outcome positive information has an effect on how consumers perceive the fairness of this principle in relation to allocation of sponsorship funds.	Not supported
H1b: Exposure to Equality of Opportunity positive information has an effect on how consumers perceive the fairness of this principle in relation to allocation of sponsorship funds.	Not supported
H1c: The valence of media coverage has an effect on consumers' perception of fairness in relation to allocation of sponsorship funds.	Not supported

Table 6: Overview of Results 1

4.3 The Effect of Consumers' Perception of Fairness

In order to identify the effect of both valence of media coverage and consumers' perceptions of fairness on sponsors obtained CBBE, a linear regression analysis was conducted with the *CBBE Index (Opportunity Metrics)* as the dependent variable. Furthermore, being unable to create an index of consumers' predisposition towards *Liking* and *Support* towards a brand when its allocation of sponsorship funds is based on the principle of Equality of Outcome, this regression analysis was performed at a variable level. Thus, consumers' propensity to generate *Liking* and/or *Support* towards brands that depend on the Equality of Outcome principle, were used as dependent variables in a separate regression model. The indexes of consumers' attitudes towards Equality of Outcome and Opportunity were included as independent variables. Treatments were included into the model as dummy variables, using the Control Group as a reference.

4.3.1 Hypothesis Testing: Sponsorship Allocation based on Outcome

The Support and Liking measures are representing obtained CBBE when using an Equality of Outcome reasoning for allocation of sponsorship funds. The regression model for Liking (Table 7) is significant at a .05 level (Sig.=.001), while providing an explanation of 21.2% of the variance in liking. The model for Support (Table 8), is significant only if extending to a .10 level (Sig.=.075) and explains 7.5% of the variance in support. This model is constructed with the aim of testing hypothesis 2a, 2b and 2c.

ANOVA						
	Sum of squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	R Square
Regression	60.973	4	15.243	8.858	<.001	.212
Residual	227.144	132	1.721			
Total	288.117	136				

C--66-1--4-

		Coefficients			
Model	Unstandardized B	Coefficients Std. Error	Standardized Coefficients Beta	t	Sig.
Constant	8.205	.593		13.086	<.001
Equality of Opportunity Index	355	.135	239	2.639	.009
Equality of Outcome Index	451	.164	249	-2.755	.007
Treatment 1	549	.275	159	-1.936	.055
Treatment 2	050	.272	017	184	.854

Table 7: Linear Regression Model; Liking (Outcome Metrics)

Dependent Variable: Liking (Q12)

А	NO	W	A

	Sum of squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	R Square
Regression	24.955	4	6.239	2.661	.035	.075
Residual	309.483	132	2.345			
Total	334.438	136				

Coefficients

Model	Unstandardized B	Coefficients Std. Error	Standardized Coefficients Beta	t	Sig.
Constant	5.476	.732		7.482	<.001
Equality of Opportunity Index	097	.157	060	615	.540
Equality of Outcome Index	446	.191	229	-2.335	.021
Treatment 1	112	.331	033	337	.737
Treatment 2	374	.317	116	-1.178	.241

Dependent Variable: Support (Q11)

Table 8: Linear Regression Model; Support (Outcome Metrics)

Hypothesis 2a aimed to assess if the valence of how principles of equality were presented had an effect on CBBE for sponsors who used the principle of Equality of Outcome for allocation of sponsorship funds. In order for this hypothesis to gain full support, both treatments should have an effect on both *Liking* and *Support* towards brands that use the principle of Equality of Outcome. However, this was not the case. Both treatments are found insignificant in predicting support. Although when predicting *Liking*, Equality of Opportunity positive information (Treatment 1) is found to be significant at a .10 significance level (Sig.=.055) (Table 7 and 8). Furthermore, exposure to this information is yielding a -.549 decrease in the propensity to like the brand that uses Equality of Outcome based metrics for deciding sponsorship allocation. Therefore, hypothesis 2a is partially supported.

Hypothesis 2b examined whether consumers' perception of fairness of sponsorship allocation based on the Equality of Outcome principle had an effect on the sponsors obtained CBBE when using Equality of Outcome based metrics for allocation of sponsorship funds. To gain full support, the *Equality of Outcome Index* needs to be significant in predicting both *Liking* and *Support*. Both are found significant at a .05 level (Table 7 and 8), thus, consumers who think that Equality of Outcome is discriminating against men is less likely to like (Sig.=.007) and support (Sig.=.021) a brand that allocates sponsorship funds according to the Outcome principle, compared to those who think it is fair. They yield a decrease of -.451 and -.446 respectively. Thus, hypothesis 2b is supported.

Hypothesis 2c examined if consumers' perception of fairness of sponsorship allocation based on the Equality of Opportunity principle had an effect on the sponsors obtained CBBE when using Equality of Outcome as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds. The hypothesis receives full support if the *Equality of Opportunity Index* is found to be significant in both regression models. However, this index is found to be significant only in predicting *Liking* towards a brand (Sig.=.009), therefore rendering partial support to hypothesis 2c (Table 7 and 8). A unit increase in the *Equality of Opportunity Index* will render a -.355 decrease in obtained CBBE, thus, consumers who think that the Equality of Opportunity principle is discriminant against women, have a higher propensity to like a brand that allocates sponsorship funds on the basis of the Outcome principle, than those who think that the Opportunity principle is fair.

4.3.2 Hypothesis Testing: Sponsorship Allocation based on Opportunity

The *CBBE Index (Opportunity Metrics)* represents obtained CBBE when using an Equality of Opportunity reasoning for allocation of sponsorship funds. The model explains 10.6% of the variance in *CBBE Index (Opportunity Metrics)*, while being significant at a .05 level (Table 9). This model is constructed with the aim of testing hypothesis 2d, 2e and 2f.

ANOVA						
	Sum of squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	R Square
Regression	18.018	4	4.504	3.909	.005	.106
Residual	152.121	132	1.152			
Total	170.139	136				

.

Coefficients						
Model	Unstandardized B	Coefficients Std. Error	Standardized Coefficients Beta	t	Sig.	
Constant	2.563	.513		5.234	<.001	
Equality of Opportunity Index	.115	.110	.101	1.045	.298	
Equality of Outcome Index	.358	.134	.258	2.671	.009	
Treatment 1	126	.232	052	543	.588	
Treatment 2	024	.223	010	109	.914	

Dependent Variable: CBBE (Opportunity Metrics)

Table 9: Linear Regression Model; CBBE (Opportunity Metrics)

Hypothesis 2d aimed to examine if the valence of media coverage had an effect on obtained CBBE for sponsors who use the Equality of Opportunity principle for allocation of sponsorship funds. In order for this hypothesis to gain full support, one or both treatments need to have a significant effect on CBBE. However, neither Treatment 1 (Sig.=.588), nor Treatment 2 (Sig.=.914) is found to be significant at a .05 level and renders no support to hypothesis 2d (Table 9).

Hypothesis 2e regarded if consumers' perception of fairness of sponsorship allocation based on the Equality of Outcome principle had an effect on the sponsors obtained CBBE when a brand is using Equality of Opportunity as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds. The *Equality of Outcome Index* is found to be a significant predictor of CBBE (Sig.=.009) at a .05 level (Table 9). A one unit increase in the *Equality of Outcome Index* yields an increase of .358 in obtained CBBE when basing its sponsorship fund allocation on the Equality of Opportunity principle. Entailing that the more respondents think that equal distribution of sponsorship funds despite athletic ability, audience size, media coverage and generated revenue is male discriminant, the more CBBE the sponsor gains from following the Equality of Opportunity principle. These results provide support to hypothesis 2e.

Hypothesis 2f regards if consumers' perception of fairness of sponsorship allocation based on the Equality of Opportunity principle has an effect on the sponsors obtained brand equity when using Equality of Opportunity as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds. The *Equality of Opportunity Index* (Sig.=.298) is not a significant variable in predicting CBBE (Table 9). Thus, there is no evidence suggesting that consumers' perception of the Equality of Opportunity principle is affecting the sponsors who are using the same principle as the basis for allocating its sponsorship funds. Therefore, hypothesis H2f is not supported.

H2a: The valence of media coverage has an effect on sponsors obtained CBBE who use the Equality of Outcome principle for allocation of sponsorship funds.	Partial support
H2b: Consumers' perception of fairness of the Equality of Outcome principle has an effect on the sponsors CBBE when using Equality of Outcome as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds.	Supported
H2c: Consumers' perception of fairness of the Equality of Opportunity principle has an effect on the sponsors obtained CBBE when using Equality of Outcome as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds.	Partial support
H2d: The valence of media coverage has an effect on sponsors obtained CBBE who use the Equality of Opportunity principle for allocation of sponsorship funds.	Not supported
H2e: Consumers' perception of fairness of the Equality of Outcome principle has an effect on the sponsors obtained CBBE when using Equality of Opportunity as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds.	
H2f: Consumers' perception of fairness of the Equality of Opportunity principle has an effect on the sponsors obtained CBBE when using Equality of Opportunity as basis for allocation of sponsorship funds.	Not supported

Table 10: Overview of Results 2

5.0 Discussion and Conclusion

This study aimed to examine consumers' perception of fairness in relation to allocating sponsorship funds between male and female athletes/teams, and how this perception is both influenced by the valence of media coverage and how it affects sponsors obtained CBBE based on the principle of Equality of Outcome vs. Opportunity.

In order to gain insight into the impact of the valence of media coverage on consumer perceptions towards differences in allocation of sponsorship funds, respondents were exposed to two different treatments that were representative of the valence of actual media coverage through an online survey. Treatment 1 (Opportunity positive) represented the reasoning for why male athletes do and should continue to retrieve higher salaries, thus, sponsorship agreements (Angelini, 2008; Apostolou et al., 2014; Deaner et al., 2016; Flanagan et al., 2007; Fuhrmeister, 2019; Hagen, 2019; James & Ridinger, 2002; Lange, 2020c; Salary.com, 2019; Thibault et al., 2010), while Treatment 2 (Outcome positive) represented the reasoning for why female athletes should receive equal salaries as their male counterparts (Hess, 2019; Lie, 2017a, 2017b; Lie et al., 2020; Messner, 1988; Raviprakash et al., 2020; Signal AI, 2019; The Commission on the Future of Women's Sport, 2011; The Nielsen Company, 2018; UN Women, 2020). Neither hypothesis 1a, 1b or 1c were supported, illustrating that the valence of media coverage did not have a significant effect on how the respondents answered the questions regarding perception of fairness. Indicating that people are less inclined to be persuaded to change their attitudes or be affected from a one-time exposure than initially assumed. Thus, this research found no support to the assumption that the valence of media coverage is able to affect consumer perception of fairness regarding the different equality principles when evaluated in relation to the allocation of sports sponsorship between genders.

In the second part of the study, we aimed to explore how the valence of media coverage and consumers' perceptions of fairness of sponsorship allocation metrics had an effect on a sponsors obtained CBBE in relation to the metrics that they used for allocating sponsorship funds. Insights on this topic could be of importance as research emphasizes the coherence between sponsorship and social expectations (Werther & Chandler, 2005). Thus, the valence of media coverage on sponsors obtained CBBE was analyzed, represented by a measurement of *Liking* and *Support*. Furthermore, the effect of consumers' perception of fairness on CBBE

was analyzed using the *Equality of Outcome Index* and *Equality of Opportunity Index*. As we find partial support for hypothesis 2a, the valence of media coverage can have an effect on a sponsors obtained CBBE, depending on the metrics that the sponsor applies when allocating sponsorship funds. Thus, if presented with information that is positive towards the Equality of Opportunity principle (Treatment 1), this would negatively affect the consumer's propensity to like brands that allocate sponsorship funds on the basis of the Outcome principle between male and female athletes. However, evidence does not suggest that the information has an effect on support towards the brand. As hypothesis 2d is not supported, the valence of media coverage is not proven to be a significant predictor of a brands obtained CBBE when the brand relies on Opportunity based metrics for allocation of sponsorship funds.

Furthermore, our results show that consumers' perceptions of the fairness of Equality of Outcome vs. Opportunity, does in some cases have an effect on their propensity to generate CBBE towards the sponsor. We find support for hypothesis 2b and 2e, both regarding the effect of the respondent's attitude towards the Equality of Outcome principle. Indicating that a consumer's perception of the Equality of Outcome principle is of superior importance when predicting sponsors obtained CBBE, compared to their perception of the Equality of Opportunity principle. Furthermore, H2c received partial support, thus the Equality of Opportunity Index proves to be a significant predictor of Liking towards a brand that rely on Outcome based metrics for allocating its sponsorship funds. Although, it is not found to be sufficient in predicting consumers propensity to Support the sponsoring brand. These results illustrate that consumers' who think the Equality of Outcome principle is fair, would be less inclined to grant CBBE towards a sponsor who allocates its sponsorship funds according to the Equality of Opportunity principle, compared to consumers who think that the Outcome principle is male discriminant. Furthermore, it will render a greater negative effect on CBBE for a brand that allocates sponsorship funds on the basis of the Outcome principle if consumers think that this is male discriminant, than when thought to be fair. These results coincide with the already existing theory saying that greater liking and support are generated towards sponsors that consumers relate to and that act according to social expectations (Madrigal, 2001). Lastly, hypothesis 2f is not supported, indicating that consumer perceptions of the Opportunity principle are

not significant in predicting CBBE when metrics for sponsorship allocation is based on the same principle.

In conclusion, there are many reasons for a brand to allocate sponsorship funds according to Equality of Opportunity based metrics, which would continue to favor a male majority and dominance among sponsorship agreements and the pay that they generate for the athlete. Although, our findings suggest that if a consumer has strong perceptions regarding the fairness of equal distribution according to the Equality of Outcome based metrics, this will render consequences for the CBBE obtained by the sponsor and, in turn, its return on investment. Arguably providing a basis for further research into the subject, which along with certain limitations of the current study will be discussed further.

5.1 Academic and Managerial Implications

Based on the aforementioned findings and discussion, academic and managerial implications for sponsorship decisions are presented.

This research provides insights into consumer perceptions in an underexplored area. The increased attention towards equality in sports is providing a basis for exploring consumers' perceptions of how to fairly allocate funds towards sponsoring athletes and teams and can prove important in order to obtain updated and efficient metrics for sponsorship allocation. Furthermore, this thesis contributes academically with a basis for a Fairness Index, which can be a useful measurement in further research settings. As sponsorship has become a marketing phenomenon and are generating more favor when the sponsoring brand is perceived to act in coherence with social expectations, this speaks to the importance of keeping consumer perceptions in focus when allocating sponsorship funds (Cornwell & Maignan, 1998; Crimmins & Horn, 1996; d'Astous & Bitz, 1995; Madrigal, 2001; Olson, 2010; Speed & Thompson, 2000). Thereby, enhancing the importance of brand managers' awareness of and keeping up with social expectations within the area of equality to secure the brands return on investment. This research mainly provides evidence that the consumers' perception of fairness is something to be mindful of when making decisions regarding sponsorships. In order to provide concrete metrics to base this decision on, further research on the subject is needed.

5.2 Limitations and Future Research

This thesis embodies certain limitations that should be acknowledged. As the scope of the thesis is directed at providing research within an area with little existing research, it presents the possibility to replicate and extend the metrics and research in order to further examine this topic.

Media is thought to have a significant impact on consumer attitudes and was when replicated anticipated to show results that cohere with this notion (Valkenburg et al., 2016). Although this was not the case in this study. A rising question is whether the treatments were strong enough, especially in regards to the probability that consumers were familiar with the pay gap that exists within sports. Consumers will, presumably, be at least familiar with the discussion of a pay gap between genders in general, if not specifically to the world of sports. Thus, presenting the possibility that because attitudes are such enduring constructs, the treatments may not have been strong and clear enough to alter or significantly affect an already standing attitude in the consumer's mind (Petty et al., 2003). Thus, future research may further investigate if similar treatments can have an effect on how consumers perceive equality principles, if made more extensive or presented in a more realistic setting or format. The Covid situation and the affiliated restrictions created barriers when it comes to the nature of the conducted experiment. Therefore, future research could address the media exposure towards consumers in a physical setting. Furthermore, the frequency of exposure is also mentioned as an important factor to why media has such an effect and presents the possibility to look at valence in coherence with frequency of media exposure of a certain nature. Future research can also put a larger emphasis on the visual presentation of treatments to mimic actual media content.

Acknowledging that the current sample differs from stats showcasing that 76% of sports watchers are male, which to a certain degree can make the results less applicable for brand managers (Lange, 2020c). As our sample consists of a large portion of consumers who do not identify with this, it may have impacted the results and impaired the generalizability of this study. Thus, obtaining a proportional sample of genuine sports fans would be of interest for further research into the topic. Furthermore, as our sample is largely based on respondents from western countries and examines sports in general, a more extensive look into differences across regions and sports would be of interest, especially in regards to segmentation and identifying distinctions in consumer perceptions that should be

accounted for as the equality focus would arguably be of differing importance across regions and sports branches.

This research examines consumer attitudes and their propensity to grant CBBE towards sponsoring brands when made aware of its basis for allocating sponsorship funds. However, in a real-life situation, this may not be information that the consumer is familiar with or interested in, even when having a clear opinion on the matter of equality. Thus, future research could examine to which degree the consumer is aware of and concerns themselves with the uneven distribution of sponsorship funds in real life. As the measurement of fairness and CBBE are constructed for the purpose of this study, the Fairness- and CBBE *Indexes* could be a subject of criticism. The questions designed to measure consumers' perception of fairness in relation to allocation of sponsorship funds, were based upon literature's emphasized metrics for allocation, both in favor of Equality of Outcome and Opportunity. Which can render challenges in relation to this not being tested beforehand. The factor analysis and Cronbach's Alpha shows that the measurement for Liking, and Support based on the Outcome principle are not measuring the same underlying constructs, thus, were not eligible for creating an index (Table 4). Future research should continue to develop the Fairness- and CBBE Indexes in order to secure the construct validity. As this research also mainly addressed *Liking* and *Support* as a measure for CBBE, a more extensive measure can be of use for further research on the topic.

6.0 Reference list

- Aaker, D. A. (1992). The Value of Brand Equity. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 13(4), 27–32. https://doi.org/10.1108/eb039503
- Aaker, D. A. (2009). Managing Brand Equity. Simon and Schuster.
- Abratt, R., Clayton, B. C., & Pitt, L. F. (1987). Corporate Objectives in Sports Sponsorship. *International Journal of Advertising*, *6*(4), 299–312. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.1987.11107030
- Adams, A., & Cox, A. L. (2008). Questionnaires, In-Depth Interviews and Focus Groups. In P. Cairns & A. L. Cox (Eds.), *Research Methods for Human–Computer Interaction* (pp. 17–34). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511814570.003
- Afami, R. (2021, March 31). Gender Inequality in Sports Sponsorships. *The Sports Financial Literacy Academy*. https://moneysmartathlete.com/2021/03/31/gender-inequality-in-sports-sponsorships/
- Allen, E., & Seaman, C. A. (2007, July). *Statistics Roundtable: Likert Scales and Data Analyses*. http://rube.asq.org/quality-progress/2007/07/statistics/likert-scales-and-data-analyses.html
- Anderson, W. L. (2000, August 1). *In Praise of Athletes' High Salaries | William L. Anderson*. https://fee.org/articles/in-praise-of-athletes-high-salaries/
- Andreff, W., & Staudohar, P. D. (2000). The Evolving European Model of Professional Sports Finance. *Journal of Sports Economics*, 1(3), 257–276. https://doi.org/10.1177/152700250000100304
- Angelini, J. R. (2008). Television Sports and Athlete Sex: Looking at the Differences in Watching Male and Female Athletes. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 52(1), 16–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934520701820752
- Apostolopoulou, A., & Papadimitriou, D. (2004). "Welcome Home": Motivations and Objectives of the 2004 Grand National Olympics Sponsors. *Sport Marketing Quarterly*, *13*, 180–192.
- Apostolou, M., Frantzides, N., & Pavlidou, A. (2014). Men Competing, Men Watching: Exploring Watching-Pattern Contingencies in Sports. *International Journal of Sport Communication*, 7, 462–476.

 https://doi.org/10.1123/IJSC.2014-0033
- Badenhausen, K. (n.d.). Naomi Osaka Is the Highest-Paid Female Athlete Ever,

- *Topping Serena Williams*. Forbes. Retrieved June 28, 2021, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/kurtbadenhausen/2020/05/22/naomi-osaka-is-the-highest-paid-female-athlete-ever-topping-serena-williams/
- Badenhausen, K. (2020, May 21). The World's Highest-Paid Athletes 2020. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/athletes/
- Bakhtiari, K. (2020, September 29). Why Brands Need to Pay Attention To

 Cancel Culture. Forbes.

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/kianbakhtiari/2020/09/29/why-brands-need-to-pay-attention-to-cancel-culture/
- Baltar, F., & Brunet, I. (2012). Social Research 2.0: Virtual Snowball Sampling Method Using Facebook. *Internet Research*, 22(1), 57–74. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662241211199960
- Bassuk, A. (2019, March 24). NBA Gender Equity: What Does It Take? *Medium*. https://alicia-bassuk.medium.com/nba-gender-equity-what-does-it-take-8ed085229d79
- Bhargav. (2020, June 3). Why Nadal earns less than Nishikori and Osaka in endorsements. https://www.sportskeeda.com/tennis/news-why-rafael-nadal-earns-less-than-nishikori-and-osaka-in-endorsements
- Brassil, G. R. (2021, May 29). Sedona Prince Has a Message for You. *The New York Times*.

 https://www.nytimes.com/2021/05/29/sports/ncaabasketball/sedona-prince-ncaa-basketball-video.html
- Cambridge Dictionary. (n.d.). *Fairness*. https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/fairness
- Capranica, L., Piacentini, M. F., Halson, S., Myburgh, K., Ogasawara, E., & Millard-Stafford, M. (2013). The Gender Gap in Sport Performance: Equity Influences Equality. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, 8, 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.8.1.99
- Cash, M. (2020, April 18). The Top-10 Highest-Paid Female Athletes of 2020 and How Much Less They Make Than the Highest-Paid Male Athletes.

 Insider. https://www.insider.com/highest-paid-female-athletes-2020-compared-to-males-2020-8
- Cheuvront, S. N., Carter, R., DeRuisseau, & Moffatt, R. J. (2005). Running Performance Differences Between Men and Women. *Sports Medicine*, 35(12), 1017–1024. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200535120-00002

- Chieng, F., & Lee, C. G. (2011). Customer-Based Brand Equity: A Literature Review. *Int. Refereed Res. J.*, 2, 33–42.
- Coleman, D. L., & Shreve, W. (n.d.). Comparing Athletic

 Performances The Best Elite Women to Boys And Men. 8.
- Cooky, C., Messner, M. A., & Hextrum, R. H. (2013). Women Play Sport, But Not on TV: A Longitudinal Study of Televised News Media.

 Communication & Sport, 1(3), 203–230.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2167479513476947
- Copeland, R., Frisby, W., & McCarville, R. (1996). Understanding the Sport Sponsorship Process from a Corporate Perspective. *Journal of Sport Management*, 10(1), 32–48. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.10.1.32
- Cornwell, T. B. (1995). Sponsorship-Linked Marketing Development. *Sport Marketing Quarterly*, *4*, 13–24.
- Cornwell, T. B., & Humphreys, M. S. (2013). Memory for Sponsorship Relationships: A Critical Juncture in Thinking. *Psychology & Marketing*, 30(5), 394–407. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20614
- Cornwell, T. B., & Maignan, I. (1998). An International Review of Sponsorship Research. *Journal of Advertising*, 27(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.1998.10673539
- Crimmins, J., & Horn, M. (1996). Sponsorship: From Management Ego Trip to Marketing Success. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *36*(4), 11–21.
- d'Astous, A., & Bitz, P. (1995). Consumer Evaluations of Sponsorship Programs. *European Journal of Marketing*, 29, 6–22. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090569510102504
- Danziger, P. N. (2019, March 1). Nike Declares 2019 Its Year for Women. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/pamdanziger/2019/03/01/nike-the-worlds-most-valuable-fashion-brand-declares-2019-its-year-for-women/
- Deaner, R. O., Balish, S. M., & Lombardo, M. P. (2016). Sex Differences in Sports Interest and Motivation: An Evolutionary Perspective. *Evolutionary Behavioral Sciences*, *10*(2), 73–97. https://doi.org/10.1037/ebs0000049
- Donoghue, S. (2000). Projective Techniques in Consumer Research. *Journal of Family Ecology and Consumer Sciences /Tydskrif Vir Gesinsekologie En Verbruikerswetenskappe*, 28(1). https://doi.org/10.4314/jfecs.v28i1.52784
- Duncan, M. C. (2006). Gender Warriors in Sport: Women and the Media. In A. A. Raney & J. Bryant (Eds.), *Handbook of sports and media* (pp. 231–266).

- https://www.ufrgs.br/redecedesrs/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/2_Handbook_of_sports_and_media.pdf#page=26
- Eastman, S. T., & Billings, A. C. (2000). Sportscasting and Sports Reporting: The Power of Gender Bias. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 24(2), 192–213. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723500242006
- Edelman. (n.d.). *Two-Thirds of Consumers Worldwide Now Buy on Beliefs*.

 Edelman. https://www.edelman.com/news-awards/two-thirds-consumers-worldwide-now-buy-beliefs
- Emmonds, S., Heyward, O., & Jones, B. (2019). The Challenge of Applying and Undertaking Research in Female Sport. *Sports Medicine Open*, *5*(1), 51. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-019-0224-x
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling.

 *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics, 5(1), 1.

 https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Farquhar, G. (1989). Managing Brand Equity. Marketing Research.
- Filho, C. E. Z. (2019). Changing Negative Attitudes through Sport Sponsorship: A Gender Perspective in Brazil. *REMark: Revista Brasileira de Marketing*, 18(4), 75–96.
 - http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.bi.no/10.5585/remark.v18i4.16384
- Fink, J. S. (2015). Female Athletes, Women's Sport, And the Sport Media Commercial Complex: Have We Really "Come a Long Way, Baby"? *Sport Management Review*, 18(3), 331–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2014.05.001
- Flanagan, D. K. E., Baker, C. I., Fortin, M., & Tinsley, D. V. (2007). The Effect of Gender Opportunity in Sports on the Priorities and Aspirations of Young Athletes. *The Shield Research Journal of Physical Education & Sports Science.*, 2(0). https://sujo-old.usindh.edu.pk/index.php/THE-SHIELD/article/view/976
- Fleurbaey, M. (1995). Equal Opportunity or Equal Social Outcome? *Economics and Philosophy*, 11(1), 25–55. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266267100003217
- Friborg, O., Martinussen, M., & Rosenvinge, J. H. (2006). Likert-Based Vs. Semantic Differential-Based Scorings of Positive Psychological Constructs: A Psychometric Comparison of Two Versions of a Scale

- Measuring Resilience. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 40(5), 873–884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2005.08.015
- Fuhrmeister, C. (2019, August 13). Frank de Boer: "Equal Pay at International Level Now Would be Ridiculous." *The Guardian*. http://www.theguardian.com/football/2019/aug/13/frank-de-boer-atlanta-united-mls-crystal-palace
- Futterman, M., Draper, K., Belson, K., & Blinder, A. (2020, March 14). The Financial Blow of the Coronavirus on Sports. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/14/sports/sports-coronavirus-impact.html
- Garland, R., & Charbonneau, J. (2006). The Use of Celebrity Athletes as

 Endorsers: Views of the New Zealand General Public. *International*Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship, 7.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSMS-07-04-2006-B007
- Gerber, A. S., & Green, D. P. (2012). Field experiments: Design, Analysis, and Interpretation. WW Norton & Company.
- Gerencer, T. (2016, June 10). Cristiano Ronaldo Net Worth. *Money Nation*. https://moneynation.com/cristiano-ronaldo-net-worth/
- Gough, C. (2020a, June 2). *Highest Paid Athletes in the World 2020* [Statistics]. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/250295/highest-paid-athletes-worldwide/
- Gough, C. (2020b, October 22). *Sports Fans in the U.S. 2020 by Gender*[Statistics]. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1018814/sports-fans-usa-gender/
- Gough, C. (2021, May 25). *Annual Wages in the NBA 2019/20* [Statistics]. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1120257/annual-salaries-nba/
- Gregory, S. (2018, September 4). Colin Kaepernick's Nike Deal Shows He

 Doesn't Need the NFL | Time. *Time*. https://time.com/5386204/colin-kaepernick-nike-keeps-winning/
- Griffee, W. (2017, April 7). *USA Women's World Champions Lose 5-2 to 15-year-old Boys*. Mail Online. http://www.dailymail.co.uk/~/article-4389760/index.html
- Grohmann, K. (2019, June 25). Tokyo 2020 Games Domestic Sponsorship Tops \$3 Billion as Companies Pile in. *Reuters*. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-olympics-ioc-sponsorship-

idUSKCN1TQ1QY

- Grohs, R., & Reisinger, H. (2005). Image Transfer in Sports Sponsorships: An Assessment of Moderating Effects. *International Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship*, 7(1), 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSMS-07-01-2005-B007
- Guttmann, A. (2019, November 26). Sponsorship Spending Worldwide 2007-2018 [Statistics]. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/196864/global-sponsorship-spending-since-2007/
- Hagen, M. (2019, August 14). Frank de Boer—Kritisk til Likelønn i Fotballen: Latterlig. *Dagbladet*. https://www.dagbladet.no/sport/kritisk-til-likelonn-i-fotballen---latterlig/71489109
- Han, K., Sung, Y., & Tinkham, S. F. (2003, August). Consumer Recognition of Sports Event Sponsors: The Impact of Advertising, Ambushers and Audience Factors.
- Hess, A. J. (2019, July 10). US Viewership of the 2019 Women's World Cup Final was 22% Higher than the 2018 Men's Final. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2019/07/10/us-viewership-of-the-womens-world-cup-final-was-higher-than-the-mens.html
- James, J., & Ridinger, L. (2002). Female and Male Sport Fans: A Comparison of Sport Consumption Motives. *Journal of Sport Behavior*, 23, 260–278.
- Janssens, W., Wijnen, K., de Pelsmacker, P., & von Kenhove, P. (2008). *Marketing Research with SPSS*. Prentice Hall/Financial Times.
- Kahneman, D. (2012). *Thinking, Fast and Slow*. Penguin Books.
- Keller, K. L. (1993). Conceptualizing, Measuring, and Managing Customer-Based Brand Equity. *Journal of Marketing*, *57*(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.2307/1252054
- Keller, K. L. (2001). Building Customer-Based Brand Equity: A Blueprint for Creating Strong Brands. *Cambridge, MA: Marketing Science Institute*, 3–27.
- Keller, K. L. (2013). Strategic Brand Management: Building, Measuring, and Managing Brand Equity (4th ed.). Pearson.
- King, C. (2007). Media Portrayals of Male and Female Athletes: A Text and Picture Analysis of British National Newspaper Coverage of the Olympic Games since 1948. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 42(2), 187–199. https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690207084751

- Kinney, L., McDaniel, S. R., & DeGaris, L. (2008). Demographic and Psychographic Variables Predicting NASCAR Sponsor Brand Recall. International Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship, 9(3), 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSMS-09-03-2008-B005
- Koivula, N. (1999). Gender Stereotyping in Televised Media Sport Coverage. *Sex Roles*, 41(7), 589–604. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018899522353
- Kollare, R. (2021, January 19). Throwback: When Serena and Venus Lost to a Male Tennis Player at Australian Open. *EssentiallySports*. https://www.essentiallysports.com/when-serena-williams-and-venus-williams-lost-to-a-male-tennis-player-at-australian-open-wta-tennis-news/
- Kotler, P., Armstrong, G., & Opresnik, M. O. (2018). *Principles of Marketing* (17th ed.). Pearson.
- Krosnick, J. A., & Presser, S. (2018). Question and Questionnaire Design. In *The Palgrave Handbook of Survey Research* (Second edition, pp. 439–455). Emerald.
- Lange, D. (2020a, November 26). *Olympic Summer Games sponsorship revenue*1996-2016 [Statistics]. Statista.

 https://www.statista.com/statistics/274449/marketing-revenue-of-olympic-games-from-domestic-sponsorships/
- Lange, D. (2020b, November 26). *Revenue Lost in Sports Due to Coronavirus* 2020. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1114808/coronavirus-sports-revenue-loss/
- Lange, D. (2020c, November 26). *Share of Global Sports Fans by Gender 2019* [Statistics]. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1114119/sports-fans-gender-distribution/
- Lange, D. (2020d, November 26). *U.S. Live Sports Viewership 2020* [Statistics]. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1127341/live-sport-viewership/
- Lee, S., & Lee, D. K. (2018). What is the Proper Way to Apply the Multiple Comparison Test? *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, 71(5), 353–360. https://doi.org/10.4097/kja.d.18.00242
- Lie, S. L. (2017a, December 10). Enorme Kjønnsforskjeller I Toppidretten:

 Norske Menn Tjente 100 Millioner Mer Enn Norske Kvinner. *NRK*.

 https://www.nrk.no/sport/enorme-kjonnsforskjeller-i-toppidretten_-norskemenn-tjente-100-millioner-mer-enn-norske-kvinner-1.13806390
- Lie, S. L. (2017b, December 11). «Det er kjempevanskelig å overleve som

- idrettsutøver og kvinne». *NRK*. https://www.nrk.no/sport/_det-er-kjempevanskelig-a-overleve-som-idrettsutover-og-kvinne_-1.13792253
- Lie, S. L., Ekeland, H., Rognerud, A., Jørnholt, M., Hjorthen, I. R., Paulsen, K. I., Engebretsen, D. K., & Digernes-Nordstöm, J. (2020, December 10). Stjernen Reagerer på NRK-funn. *NRK*. https://www.nrk.no/sport/nrk-funn-avslorer-forskjellsbehandling-i-barneidretten_-_helt-uakseptabelt-1.15247254
- Lie, S. L., Strømshoved, K. A., & Eriksen, S. B. (2021, March 26). Norsk sykkelsponsor hardt ut mot likelønn: Trenger ikke kaste penger ut av vinduet. *NRK*. https://www.nrk.no/sport/norsk-sykkelsponsor-hardt-ut-mot-likelonn -trenger-ikke-kaste-penger-ut-av-vinduet-1.15432450
- Madrigal, R. (2001). Social Identity Effects in A Belief–Attitude–Intentions Hierarchy: Implications for Corporate Sponsorship. *Psychology & Marketing*, *18*(2), 145–165. https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6793(200102)18:2<145::AID-MAR1003>3.0.CO;2-T
- Malhotra, N. K. (2019). Marketing Research (7th ed.). Pearson.
- Martinez, G. (2018, September 10). Nike Sales Increase 31% After Kaepernick Ad Despite Backlash. *Time*. https://time.com/5390884/nike-sales-go-up-kaepernick-ad/
- Maund, B. (2003). *Perception*. Taylor & Francis Group.

 http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/bilibrary/detail.action?docID=190005
- McDaniel, S. R., & Kinney, L. (1999). Audience Characteristics and Event Sponsorship Response: The Potential Influence of Demographics, Personal Interests and Values on Brand Awareness and Brand Image. *International Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship*, *1*(2), 15–35. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSMS-01-02-1999-B003
- Meenaghan, J. A. (1983). Commercial Sponsorship. *European Journal of Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM000000004825
- Meenaghan, T. (2001). Understanding Sponsorship Effects. *Psychology & Marketing*, *18*(2), 95–122. https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6793(200102)18:2<95::AID-MAR1001>3.0.CO;2-H
- Messner, M. A. (1988). Sports and Male Domination: The Female Athlete as Contested Ideological Terrain. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, *5*(3), 197–211. https://doi.org/10.1123/ssj.5.3.197

- Messner, M. A., Duncan, M. C., & Jensen, K. (1993). Separating the Men from the Girls: The Gendered Language of Televised Sports. *Gender and Society*, 7(1), 121–137.
- Næss, T. M. (2020, June 8). Gigantavtale for Ada Hegerberg: Det er en ny epoke nå. *TV 2*. https://www.tv2.no/a/11483771/
- National Basketball Association. (n.d). *NBA Salary Cap History—RealGM*. https://basketball.realgm.com/nba/info/salary_cap
- Nike Inc. (n.d.-a). *How We Stand Up for Equality | Nike Purpose*. https://purpose.nike.com/how-we-stand-up-for-equality
- Nike Inc. (n.d.-b). *SDG 5 Gender Equality | Nike Purpose*. https://purpose.nike.com/sdg-5-gender-equality
- Nikkei Asia. (2020, December 12). Tokyo Olympics secure \$200m in sponsor money to cover delay. *Nikkei Asia*. https://asia.nikkei.com/Spotlight/Tokyo-2020-Olympics/Tokyo-Olympics-secure-200m-in-sponsor-money-to-cover-delay
- Norton, K., & Olds, T. (2001). Morphological Evolution of Athletes Over the 20th Century. *Sports Medicine*. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/11766594_Morphological_Evolution_of_Athletes_Over_the_20th_Century
- Nozick, R. (1973). Distributive Justice. *Philosophy & Public Affairs*, *3*(1), 45–126.
- O'Cass, A., & Frost, H. (2002). Status Brands: Examining the Effects of Non-Product-Related Brand Associations on Status and Conspicuous Consumption. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 11(2), 67–88. https://doi.org/10.1108/10610420210423455
- Ohanian, R. (2013). Construction and Validation of a Scale to Measure Celebrity Endorsers' Perceived Expertise, Trustworthiness, and Attractiveness.

 Journal of Advertising, 19, 39–52.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.1990.10673191
- Olson, E. L. (2010). Does Sponsorship Work in the Same Way in Different @ Sponsorship Contexts? *European Journal of Marketing*, 44(1/2), 180–199. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.bi.no/10.1108/03090561011008664
- Petty, R., Wheeler, S., & Tormala, Z. (2003). *Handbook of Psychology, Second Edition*. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471264385.wei0515
- Pfister, G. (2010). Women in Sport Gender Relations and Future Perspectives.

- *Sports in Society, 13*(2), 234-248. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430430903522954
- Phillips, A. (2004). Defending Equality of Outcome. *Journal of Political Philosophy*, 12(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9760.2004.00188.x
- Plewa, C., & Quester, P. (2011). Sponsorship and CSR: Is there a Link? A Conceptual Framework. *International Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship*, *12*, 301–317. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSMS-12-04-2011-B003
- Raney, A. A., & Bryant, J. (2009). Handbook of Sports and Media. 756.
- Raviprakash, S., Wray, I., Lee, P., & Westcott, K. (2020, December 7). *Women's Sports Revenue and Monetization*. Deloitte Insights.

 https://www2.deloitte.com/xe/en/insights/industry/technology/technology-media-and-telecom-predictions/2021/womens-sports-revenue.html
- Reimer, A. (n.d.). Why Sports TV Ratings Will Likely Still Suffer in 2021. Forbes.

 Retrieved June 25, 2021, from

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/alexreimer/2020/12/16/why-sports-tv-ratings-will-likely-still-suffer-in-2021/
- Richter, F. (2020, February 4). *Infographic: Super Bowl Viewership Edges Up After Four-Year Decline* [Statistics]. Statista Infographics. https://www.statista.com/chart/7850/super-bowl-tv-viewership/
- Roemer, J. E. (2002). Equality of Ppportunity: A Progress Report. *Social Choice* and Welfare, 19(2), 17.
- Roemer, J. E., & Trannoy, A. (2013). Equality of Opportunity.
- Salary.com. (2019, May 15). Examining the Gender Pay Gap in Sports.

 Salary.com. https://www.salary.com/articles/examining-the-gender-pay-gap-in-sports/
- Schaal, K., Tafflet, M., Nassif, H., Thibault, V., Pichard, C., Alcotte, M., Guillet, T., El Helou, N., Berthelot, G., Simon, S., & Toussaint, J.-F. (2011).
 Psychological Balance in High Level Athletes: Gender-Based Differences and Sport-Specific Patterns. *PLoS ONE*, 6(5), e19007.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019007
- Scheadler, T., & Wagstaff, A. (2018). Exposure to Women's Sports: Changing Attitudes Toward Female Athletes. *The Sport Journal*. https://thesportjournal.org/article/exposure-to-womens-sports-changing-

- attitudes-toward-female-athletes/
- Schmidt, H. C. (2016). Women's Sports Coverage Remains Largely Marginalized. *Newspaper Research Journal*, *37*(3), 275–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739532916663211
- Sermaxhaj, G. (2020, November 10). Journalism and its Role as The Fourth Estate. *Youth Time Magazine*. https://youth-time.eu/journalism-and-its-role-in-as-the-fourth-estate/
- Shaw, S., & Amis, J. (2001). Image and Investment: Sponsorship and Women's Sport. *Journal of Sport Management*, *15*, 219–246. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.15.3.219
- Sheppard, B. H., Hartwick, J., & Warshaw, P. R. (1988). The Theory of Reasoned Action: A Meta-Analysis of Past Research with Recommendations for Modifications and Future Research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *15*(3), 325–343.
- Sherwood, M., Osborne, A., Nicholson, M., & Sherry, E. (2017). Newswork, News Values, and Audience Considerations: Factors That Facilitate Media Coverage of Women's Sports. *Communication & Sport*, *5*(6), 647–668. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167479516645535
- Signal AI. (2019, July 7). *Gender Media Coverage in Tennis*. Signal AI. https://www.signal-ai.com/blog/gender-media-coverage-in-tennis
- Speed, R., & Thompson, P. (2000). Determinants of Sports Sponsorship Response. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 28(2), 226–238. https://doi.org/10.1177/0092070300282004
- Steinman, R. B. (2009). Projective Techniques in Consumer Research. *International Bulletin of Business Administration*, 9.
- Stipp, H., & Schiavone, N. P. (1996). Modeling the Impact of Olympic Sponsorship on Corporate Image. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *36*(4), 22–28.
- Stuart, E. W., Shimp, T. A., & Engle, R. W. (1987). Classical Conditioning of Consumer Attitudes: Four Experiments in an Advertising Context. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *14*(3), 334–349.
- Taherdoost, H. (2016). Sampling Methods in Research Methodology; How to Choose a Sampling Technique for Research. *International Journal of Academic Research in Management*, *5*, 18–27. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3205035

- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making Sense of Cronbach's Alpha. *Int J Med Educ*, 2, 53–55. https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd
- Taylor, P. (2019, May 13). Age of the Megadeal: Do Athletes Make too Much Money? Christian Science Monitor. https://www.csmonitor.com/USA/Society/2019/0513/Age-of-the-megadeal-Do-athletes-make-too-much-money
- The Commission on the Future of Women's Sport. (2011). *Big Deal?* https://www.womeninsport.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Big-Deal.pdf
- The International Olympic Committee. (2020). *Olympic Marketing Fact File* (pp. 1–44). The International Olympic Committee. https://stillmedab.olympic.org/media/Document%20Library/OlympicOrg/Documents/IOC-Marketing-and-Broadcasting-General-Files/Olympic-Marketing-Fact-File.pdf#_ga=2.109292677.1807663178.1615532517-1205858370.1615532517
- The International Olympic Committee. (2021, June 10). *Tokyo 2020 First Ever Gender-Balanced Olympic Games in History, Record Number of Female Competitors at Paralympic Games—Olympic News*. International Olympic Committee. https://olympics.com/ioc/news/tokyo-2020-first-ever-gender-balanced-olympic-games-in-history-record-number-of-female-competitors-at-paralympic-games
- The Nielsen Company. (2018). *The Rise of Womens Sports.pdf* (pp. 1–32). https://www.nielsen.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/04/the-rise-of-womens-sports.pdf
- Thibault, V., Guillaume, M., Berthelot, G., Helou, N. E., Schaal, K., Quinquis, L., Nassif, H., Tafflet, M., Escolano, S., Hermine, O., & Toussaint, J.-François. (2010). Women and Men in Sport Performance: The Gender Gap has not Evolved Since 1983. *Journal of Sports Science & Medicine*, 9(2), 214–223.
- Thomson, M. (2006). Human Brands: Investigating Antecedents to Consumers' Strong Attachments to Celebrities. *Journal of Marketing*, 70(3), 104–119. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.70.3.104
- Townes, C. (2019, December 31). A Decade of Fighting for Equal Pay in Sports. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/ceceliatownes/2020/12/31/a-decade-of-fighting-for-equal-pay/
- Trolan, E. J. (2013). The Impact of the Media on Gender Inequality within Sport.

- *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *91*, 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.08.420
- UN Women. (2020). *Covid-19, Women, Girls and Sport: Build Back Better* (p. 7). https://www.un.org/development/desa/dspd/wp-content/uploads/sites/22/2020/07/brief-covid-19-women-girls-and-sport-en.pdf
- United Nations. (n.d). Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment. *United*Nations Sustainable Development.

 https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/gender-equality/
- Valkenburg, P. M., Peter, J., & Walther, J. B. (2016). Media Effects: Theory and Research. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 67(1), 315–338. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122414-033608
- Wann, D. L. (1995). Preliminary Validation of the Sport Fan

 Motivation Scale. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 19(4), 377–396.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/019372395019004004
- Werther, W. B., & Chandler, D. (2005). Strategic Corporate Social Responsibility as Global Brand Insurance. *Business Horizons*, 48(4), 317–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2004.11.009
- Women's Tennis Association. (n.d.-a). *Serena Williams | Ranking History | Weekly & Yearly Rankings WTA Official*. Women's Tennis Association. https://www.wtatennis.com/players/230234/serena-williams/rankings-history
- Women's Tennis Association. (n.d.-b). *Venus Williams | Ranking History | Weekly & Yearly Rankings WTA Official*. Women's Tennis Association. https://www.wtatennis.com/players/230220/venus-williams/rankingshistory
- Wood, L. (2000). Brands and Brand Equity: Definition and Management.

 *Management Decision, 38(9), 662–669.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/00251740010379100
- Woodside, F. M., & Summers, J. (2012). The Impact of Sponsorship Awareness in Low Involvement Settings. *Contemporary Management Research*, 8(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.7903/cmr.11154
- Wragg, M., & Quartey, J. (2020, May 6). *Interview: "Challenging Times for Sport Sponsorship."* Nielsen Sports. https://nielsensports.com/interview-challenging-times-for-sport-sponsorship/

Zillmann, D., & Paulus, P. B. (1993). Spectators: Reactions to sports Events and Effects on Athletic Performance. In R. N. Singer, M. Murphey, & L. K. Tennant (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Sport Psychology* (Macmillan, pp. 600–619).

Appendix

Appendix 1: Sponsorship Percentage of the 100 Highest Paid Athletes

Athlete	Total Salary	Salary	Sponsorship	%
Roger Federer	\$106 300 000	\$6 300 000	\$100 000 000	94,07 %
Christian Ronaldo	\$105 000 000	\$60 000 000	\$45 000 000	42,86 %
Lionel Messi	\$104 000 000	\$72 000 000	\$32 000 000	30,77 %
Neymar	\$95 500 000	\$70 500 000	\$25 000 000	26,18 %
LeBron James	\$88 200 000	\$28 200 000	\$60 000 000	68,03 %
Stephen Curry	\$74 400 000	\$30 400 000	\$44 000 000	59,14 %
Kevin Durant	\$63 900 000	\$28 900 000	\$35 000 000	54,77 %
Tiger Woods	\$62 300 000	\$2 300 000	\$60 000 000	96,31 %
Kirk Cousins	\$60 500 000	\$58 000 000	\$2 500 000	4,13 %
Carson Wentz	\$59 100 000	\$55 100 000	\$4 000 000	6,77 %
Tyson Fury	\$57 000 000	\$50 000 000	\$7 000 000	12,28 %
Russell Westbrook	\$56 000 000	\$29 000 000	\$27 000 000	48,21 %
Lewis Hamilton	\$54 000 000	\$42 000 000	\$12 000 000	22,22 %
Rory McIlroy	\$52 000 000	\$22 000 000	\$30 000 000	57,69 %
Jared Goff	\$49 000 000	\$47 000 000	\$2 000 000	4,08 %
Conor McGregor	\$48 000 000	\$32 000 000	\$16 000 000	33,33 %
James Harden	\$47 800 000	\$28 800 000	\$19 000 000	39,75 %

G. Antetokounmpo	\$47 600 000	\$19 600 000	\$28 000 000	58,82 %
Anthony Joshua	\$47 000 000	\$36 000 000	\$11 000 000	23,40 %
Deontay Wilder	\$46 500 000	\$46 000 000	\$500 000	1,08 %
Tom Brady	\$45 000 000	\$33 000 000	\$12 000 000	26,67 %
Drew Brees	\$44 800 000	\$29 800 000	\$15 000 000	33,48 %
Novak Djokovic	\$44 600 000	\$12 600 000	\$32 000 000	71,75 %
Kyrie Irving	\$41 900 000	\$23 900 000	\$18 000 000	42,96 %
Phil Mickelson	\$40 800 000	\$800 000	\$40 000 000	98,04 %
Julio Jones	\$40 500 000	\$37 500 000	\$3 000 000	7,41 %
Rafael Nadal	\$40 000 000	\$14 000 000	\$26 000 000	65,00 %
Klay Thompson	\$38 800 000	\$24 800 000	\$14 000 000	36,08 %
Naomi Osaka	\$37 400 000	\$3 400 000	\$34 000 000	90,91 %
Canelo Alvarez	\$37 000 000	\$35 000 000	\$2 000 000	5,41 %
Damian Lillard	\$37 000 000	\$22 500 000	\$14 500 000	39,19 %
Sebastian Vettel	\$36 300 000	\$36 000 000	\$300 000	0,83 %
Serena Williams	\$36 000 000	\$4 000 000	\$32 000 000	88,89 %
Mohamed Salah	\$35 100 000	\$23 100 000	\$12 000 000	34,19 %
Chris Paul	\$35 000 000	\$29 000 000	\$6 000 000	17,14 %
Kylian Mbappe	\$33 800 000	\$20 800 000	\$13 000 000	38,46 %
Grady Jarrett	\$33 100 000	\$33 000 000	\$100 000	0,30 %

Paul George	\$32 800 000	\$24 800 000	\$8 000 000	24,39 %
Michael Thomas	\$32 400 000	\$31 600 000	\$800 000	2,47 %
Kei Nishikori	\$32 100 000	\$1 100 000	\$31 000 000	96,57 %
Blake Griffin	\$31 900 000	\$25 900 000	\$6 000 000	18,81 %
John Wall	\$31 200 000	\$28 700 000	\$2 500 000	8,01 %
Kawhi Leonard	\$30 500 000	\$25 000 000	\$5 500 000	18,03 %
Anthony Davis	\$30 400 000	\$20 400 000	\$10 000 000	32,89 %
Aaron Rodgers	\$30 100 000	\$21 100 000	\$9 000 000	29,90 %
Andres Iniesta	\$29 600 000	\$26 600 000	\$3 000 000	10,14 %
Matt Ryan	\$29 500 000	\$24 000 000	\$5 500 000	18,64 %
Daniel Ricciardo	\$29 000 000	\$27 000 000	\$2 000 000	6,90 %
Mesut Ozil	\$28 700 000	\$23 200 000	\$5 500 000	19,16 %
Kyle Lowry	\$28 500 000	\$27 000 000	\$1 500 000	5,26 %
Paul Pogba	\$28 500 000	\$23 000 000	\$5 500 000	19,30 %
Jimmy Butler	\$27 600 000	\$24 600 000	\$3 000 000	10,87 %
Gordon Hayward	\$27 600 000	\$24 600 000	\$3 000 000	10,87 %
Jordan Speith	\$27 600 000	\$1 600 000	\$26 000 000	94,20 %
Kemba Walker	\$27 600 000	\$24 600 000	\$3 000 000	10,87 %
Oscar	\$27 500 000	\$25 800 000	\$1 700 000	6,18 %
Clayton Kershaw	\$27 300 000	\$26 500 000	\$800 000	2,93 %

Zion Williamson	\$27 300 000	\$7 300 000	\$20 000 000	73,26 %
Arik Armestead	\$26 800 000	\$26 500 000	\$300 000	1,12 %
Joel Embiid	\$26 700 000	\$20 700 000	\$6 000 000	22,47 %
Antoine Greizmann	\$26 700 000	\$21 200 000	\$5 500 000	20,60 %
Devin Booker	\$26 600 000	\$20 600 000	\$6 000 000	22,56 %
Christian McCaffrey	\$26 500 000	\$23 500 000	\$3 000 000	11,32 %
D'Angelo Russell	\$26 500 000	\$20 500 000	\$6 000 000	22,64 %
Darius Slay	\$26 100 000	\$25 800 000	\$300 000	1,15 %
Virat Kohli	\$26 000 000	\$2 000 000	\$24 000 000	92,31 %
David De Gea	\$25 700 000	\$22 700 000	\$3 000 000	11,67 %
Kevin Love	\$25 700 000	\$21 700 000	\$4 000 000	15,56 %
Alexis Sánchez	\$25 600 000	\$24 600 000	\$1 000 000	3,91 %
Ryan Tannehill	\$25 500 000	\$25 200 000	\$300 000	1,18 %
Mike Conley, Jr.	\$25 400 000	\$24 400 000	\$1 000 000	3,94 %
Tobias Harris	\$25 400 000	\$24 600 000	\$800 000	3,15 %
Gareth Bale	\$25 200 000	\$19 700 000	\$5 500 000	21,83 %
Bobby Wagner	\$25 000 000	\$24 500 000	\$500 000	2,00 %
Amari Cooper	\$24 900 000	\$23 900 000	\$1 000 000	4,02 %
DeMar DeRozan	\$24 800 000	\$20 800 000	\$4 000 000	16,13 %
Robert Quinn	\$24 700 000	\$24 500 000	\$200 000	0,81 %

Kristaps Porzingis	\$24 500 000	\$20 500 000	\$4 000 000	16,33 %
Al Horford	\$24 400 000	\$21 100 000	\$3 300 000	13,52 %
Trae Waynes	\$24 300 000	\$24 100 000	\$200 000	0,82 %
Dante Fowler, Jr.	\$24 200 000	\$24 000 000	\$200 000	0,83 %
Khris Middleton	\$24 100 000	\$23 100 000	\$1 000 000	4,15 %
Marcus Mariota	\$23 900 000	\$20 900 000	\$3 000 000	12,55 %
CJ McCollum	\$23 800 000	\$20 800 000	\$3 000 000	12,61 %
Nick Bosa	\$23 700 000	\$22 900 000	\$800 000	3,38 %
Shaq Thompson	\$23 700 000	\$23 500 000	\$200 000	0,84 %
Karl-A. Towns	\$23 500 000	\$20 500 000	\$3 000 000	12,77 %
Philip Rivers	\$23 400 000	\$23 000 000	\$400 000	1,71 %
Ezekiel Elliott	\$23 300 000	\$21 300 000	\$2 000 000	8,58 %
Paul Millsap	\$23 300 000	\$22 800 000	\$500 000	2,15 %
Ben Roethlisberger	\$23 000 000	\$22 000 000	\$1 000 000	4,35 %
Andrus Peat	\$22 700 000	\$22 600 000	\$100 000	0,44 %
Andre Drummond	\$22 600 000	\$21 600 000	\$1 000 000	4,42 %
D.J. Reader	\$22 400 000	\$22 300 000	\$100 000	0,45 %
Quinnen Williams	\$22 400 000	\$22 200 000	\$200 000	0,89 %
Bradley Beal	\$22 300 000	\$20 300 000	\$2 000 000	8,97 %
Cam Newton	\$22 200 000	\$16 700 000	\$5 500 000	24,77 %

Calais Campbell	\$22 100 000	\$22 000 000	\$100 000	0,45 %
Derek Carr	\$22 000 000	\$20 000 000	\$2 000 000	9,09 %
Sergio Ramos	\$21 800 000	\$18 800 000	\$3 000 000	13,76 %
Total	\$3 622 300 000	\$2 526 100 000	\$1 096 200 000	30,26 %

Appendix 2: Questionnaire

• Story I (Treatment 1 - Equality of Opportunity)

In many sports, male athletes earn substantially more money than female athletes. Generally, a majority of these earnings comes from sponsorship agreements. Male athletes generally draw a bigger audience, and offer greater business potential for the sponsoring brand, which is why sponsors generally pay more to male athletes.

• Story II (Treatment 2 - Equality of Outcome)

In many sports, male athletes earn substantially more money than female athletes, despite female athletes reporting to train just as hard. Female athletes have expressed that this gap in pay is unfair and that they should be rewarded just the same as their male counterparts, based on the "same work" principle.

• No story provided (Control group)

Answer the following questions in line with how you believe the average person will answer. Be mindful to read each question carefully.

- Q1. Paying male and female athletes *equally* when men are stronger and faster:
 - Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men
- Q2. Paying male and female athletes *equally* when men attract larger audiences, media coverage and revenue:

 Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men
- Q3. Paying male athletes *more* than female athletes because men are stronger and faster:
 - Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men
- Q4. Paying male athletes *more* than female athletes because men attract larger audiences, media coverage and revenue:

 Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men
- Q5. Sponsors who pay *the same* to male and female athletes regardless of audience size, media coverage and revenue:

 Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men

Q6. Sponsors who pay *the same* to male and female athletes regardless of athletic ability:

Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men

Q7. Sponsors who pay male athletes *more* than female athletes because of larger audiences, media coverage and revenue:

Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men

Q8. Sponsors who pay male athletes *more* than female athletes because of better athleticism:

Discriminates against women <- 1 2 3 is fair 5 6 7 -> Discriminates against men

Q9. Most people find it as good business sense for sponsors to pay male athletes *more* than female athletes:

Strongly Disagree <-1 ----- 7-> Strongly Agree

Q10. Most people find it unfair that sponsors pay male athletes *more* than female athletes:

Strongly Disagree <-1 ----- 7-> Strongly Agree

Q11. Fans are less likely to support sponsors who pay male athletes *more* than female athletes:

Strongly Disagree <-1 ----- 7-> Strongly Agree

- Q12. Most people are likely to react to companies/brands that allocate their sponsorship spending equally between male and female athletes/teams by: More strongly *disliking* the company/brand <-1 ----- 7-> More strongly *liking* the company/brand
- Q13. Most people are likely to react to companies/brands that allocate their sponsorship spending to male and female sports according to the relative size of audiences and media coverage by:

More strongly *disliking* the company/brand <-1 ----- 7-> More strongly *liking* the company/brand

Q14. Most people are likely to react to companies/brands that allocate their sponsorship spending to male and female sports according to the relative size of audiences and media coverage by:

Discontinuing their support for the company/brand <-1 ----- 7-> More strongly supporting the company/brand

Demographic questions

Answer the following questions from your point of view.

- O15. Age
 - 16-19 years old
 - 20-24 years old
 - 25-34 years old
 - 35-44 years old
 - 45-54 years old
 - 55-64 years old
 - 65-74 years old
 - 75 years or older

- Q16. Gender
 - Male
 - Female
 - Other
 - Rather not say
- Q17. Country of origin (Write in)
- Q18. Do you consider yourself a fan of sports? Strongly Disagree <-1 --- Average --- 7-> Strongly Agree
- Q19. Are you a supporter of any sports team/clubs? Yes/No
- Q20. Are you an active member of any sports team (regardless of level)? Yes/No
- Q21. Who is your favorite athlete? (Mention only one) (Open question)
- Q22. Where do you mainly watch sports?
 - TV
 - In person
 - Streaming/Internet
 - Radio
- Q23. How much time do you on average spend per week watching sports in any form?
 - Less than 1 hour
 - 1-3 hours
 - 3-5 hours
 - 5-7 hours
 - 7-10 hours
 - 10 hours or more

Appendix 3: Confirmatory Factor Analysis

	KMO and Bartlett's Test	
KMO		.776
Bartlett's Test of	Approx. Chi-Square	337.929
Sphericity	Df	45
	Sig.	<.001

	Communalities	
	Initial	Extraction
Q1	1	.282
Q2	1	.567
Q3	1	.456
Q4	1	.698
Q5	1	.473
Q6	1	.510
Q7	1	.646
Q8	1	.525
Q9	1	.171
Q10	1	.413

Total Variance Explained Initial Eigenvalues Extraction Sums of Squared Rotation Sums of Squared Loadings Component Total % of Cumulative Total % of Cumulative Total % of Cumulative Variance Variance Variance 3.564 35.644 35.644 3.564 35.644 35.644 2.650 26.505 26.505 2 3 4 5 11.773 11.773 20.913 1.177 47.418 1.177 47.418 2.091 47.418 10.217 1.022 57.634 .918 9.176 66.811 .788 7.876 74.687 .697 6.971 81.658 6.448 5.290 .645 88.106 8 .529 93.396 9 .397 3.970 97.366 10 .263 100.000 2.634

	Rotated Component Matrix				
	Component	,			
	1	2			
Q1	.077	.526			
Q2	.313	.685			
Q3	.667	.103			
Q4	.817	.175			
Q5	.292	.636			
Q6	009	.714			
Q7	.772	.222			
Q8	.715	.118			
Q9	.337	.241			
Q10	.379	.519			

Appendix 4: Exploratory Factor Analysis

KMO and Bartlett's Test

KMO		.568
Bartlett's Test of	Approx. Chi-Square	72.432
Sphericity	Df	6
-	Sig.	<.001

Communalities				
	Initial	Extraction		
Q11	1	.588		
Q12	1	.692		
Q13	1	.787		
Q14	1	.783		

Total Variance Explained

]	Initial Eiger	ivalues	Extra	action Sums Loadin	of Squared gs	Rota	ation Sums o Loading	
Component	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %
1	1.786	44.640	44.640	1.786	44.640	44.640	1.587	39.682	39.682
2	1.065	26.619	71.259	1.065	26.619	71.259	1.263	31.577	71.259
3	.711	18.265	89.525						
4	.419	10.473	100.000						

Rotated Component Matrix

	Component	
	1	2
Q11	194	.742
Q12	.001	.832
Q13	.881	104
Q14	.879	099